

WORKING PAPER

The Future of EMIS

A public financial management perspective

Date October 2023

Authors Simon Cresswell, ODI Cathal Long, ODI Alasdair Fraser, ODI

DOI 10.53832/edtechhub.0165



About this document

Recommended citation	Cresswell, S., Long, C., & Fraser, A. (2022). <i>The Future of EMIS: A Public Financial Management Perspective</i> [Working Paper]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0165 Available at https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/4NSU75DR. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.
Licence	Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/ You—dear readers—are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format) and adapt (remix, transform, and build upon the material) for any purpose, even commercially. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

Reviewers Iman Beoku-Betts, Alasdair Mackintosh, Nicholas Travis

About EdTech Hub

EdTech Hub is a global research partnership. Our goal is to empower people by giving them the evidence they need to make decisions about technology in education. Our evidence library is a repository of our latest research, findings and wider literature on EdTech. As a global partnership, we seek to make our evidence available and accessible to those who are looking for EdTech solutions worldwide.

EdTech Hub is supported by UKAid, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, World Bank, and UNICEF. The views in this document do not necessarily reflect the views of these organisations.

To find out more about us, go to edtechhub.org/. Our evidence library can be found at docs.edtechhub.org/lib/.

Contents

Abbreviations and acronyms	4	
1. Introduction	5	
2. What is an EMIS?	7	
3. The demand for data	11	
3.1. Budget formulation	12	
3.2. Budget approval	15	
3.3. Budget execution	17	
3.4. Budget evaluation	18	
4. The supply of data	21	
4.1. Credibility	21	
4.2. Scope	23	
4.3. Interoperability	25	
5. The future of EMIS	28	
5.1. A subsidiarity principle for data collection	28	
5.2. A 'single source of truth' principle	29	
5.3. An openness principle	29	
6. Recommendations	31	
Bibliography		
Annex 1 Vertical resource allocation		
Annex 2 EMIS data in horizontal resource allocation		
Annex 3 Variables used for horizontal resource allocation		

Abbreviations and acronyms

ΑΡΙ	Application programming interface	
BMGF	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	
CPDI	Centre for Peace and Development Initiatives	
CRA	Commission for Revenue Allocation (Kenya)	
DBR	Design-Based Research	
DFID	UK Department for International Development	
DHS	Demographic and Health Survey	
DHIS	District health management information system	
EMIS	Education Management Information System(s)	
EWF	Education World Forum	
FCDO	UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office	
GPE	Global Partnership for Education	
ICT	Information communication technology	
IMF	International Monetary Fund	
LIC	Low-income country	
LMIC	Lower- and middle-income country	
MELA	Measure Evaluate Learn Adapt	
MICS	Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey	
OER	Open Educational Resources	
OOSC	Out-of-school children	
PFM	Public financial management	
RBF	Results-based financing	
SABER	Systems Approach for Better Education Results (World Bank)	
UIS	UNESCO Institute of Statistics	
UMIC	Upper-middle-income country	

1. Introduction

The 'digital revolution' holds great potential for improving how governments formulate and implement their policies (International Monetary Fund, 2017; *World Bank, 2016). Perhaps nowhere is this improvement more necessary than in the education sector. Quality education for all is a distant dream, with an estimated 70% of 10-year-olds in low- and middle-income countries unable to read and understand a simple text (World Bank, 2022). Many strategies to address this 'learning' crisis' require better data (*Rossiter, 2020) to find out what interventions are working for which children and to make use of pertinent information throughout the education system. For over two decades, governments and their development partners have invested in education management information systems (EMIS) with the intention of improving policymaking and implementation.¹ Yet, despite substantial external and domestic financing, the potential of EMIS often goes unrealised. The influence of EMIS on policymaking and policy implementation frequently appears limited (*GPE, 2019; *van Wyk & Crouch, 2020).²

Policymakers in low- and lower-middle-income countries are in a bind: while more complex EMIS designs may make processes more likely to fail following donor exit,³ simple EMIS designs do not provide enough information to track the effects of reforms and, often, serious shortcomings — most children in school in lower-income countries aren't learning even the basics, and some education systems have got worse at spreading basic literacy as access to education has expanded (*Pritchett, 2018; *Sandefur et al., 2022).⁴

¹ Between 1998 and 2014, 57% of the 415 projects in the World Bank education portfolio included an EMIS component. The cost ranged from USD 1 million to USD 7 million, and from 0.5% to 21% of the total cost of the project (*Abdul-Hamid et al., 2017). Since then, similar investments have continued as part of hundreds of donor-supported projects, including support for sector responses to Covid-19 (*Aslam & Rawal, 2021).

² Moreover, EMIS are not always maintained by governments after a donor project ends (†Abdul-Hamid, 2014; †Abdul-Hamid et al., 2017; †Powell, 2006; †USAID, 2016). Even during project implementation, difficulties are apparent: among World Bank EMIS subprojects concluded between 1998 and 2014, 30% were classified as "unsatisfactory" (†Abdul-Hamid et al., 2017).

³ Hence, a call for simple systems as an "obligatory first step" in recommendations from *Bashir et al. (2018).

⁴ Conclusions on learning would likely require linkages to data outside a core EMIS (*van Wyk & Crouch, 2020). However, grade- and pupil- level data could be useful in discovering where need is greatest and potentially remove bottlenecks to learning.

Reflections on EMIS implementation challenges point to demand and supply issues, with the former being the more important determinant for realising EMIS potential and their ongoing development (*Abdul-Hamid et al., 2017; *GPE, 2019; *van Wyk & Crouch, 2020). This paper considers demand and supply for EMIS from a public financial management (PFM) perspective.

Almost every country produces a government budget, and the PFM cycle is one of the main areas where evidence can influence policy and implementation. Moreover, the centrality of effective education systems (not just schooling, but learning) for economic growth and reduced government wastage aligns well with key PFM objectives. Most low- and middle-income countries face a tighter fiscal environment in the early 2020s than in the previous two decades. Further, finance ministries are likely to be supportive of funding for EMIS if the data provided can be demonstrably used to help improve spending efficiency.

In Section 2 of this paper, we note the key points of emphasis and what matters most about an EMIS from a PFM perspective. Section 3 then looks at the demand for EMIS data across different stages of the PFM cycle with reference to different countries, including the original six EdTech Hub focus countries (Bangladesh, Ghana, Kenya, Pakistan, Tanzania, and Sierra Leone). We note that demand for EMIS data is already quite embedded in budget formulation but relatively nascent in the later stages of the PFM cycle — budget approval, budget execution, and budget evaluation.

In Section 4, we look at persistent shortcomings of EMIS on the supply side in terms of the credibility, scope, and interoperability of data. Section 5 proposes three principles for the future development of EMIS to address these shortcomings — subsidiarity, a single source of truth, and openness. Section 6 concludes with recommendations for education ministries, finance ministries, and donors on how to implement our recommendations.

2. What is an EMIS?

There is no universal definition of an EMIS. Defining an EMIS is a tricky proposition. They come in various shapes and forms — even the term EMIS is widely used only in lower-income countries.⁵ Although there is a tendency to equate EMIS with the underlying technology, most definitions emphasise the use of a technology implementation within a wider system of people and processes (†Cassidy, 2006; †Hua & Herstein, 2003; †UNESCO, 2008; †van Wyk & Crouch, 2020; †Wako, 2003). Definitions also acknowledge different stages of EMIS development, from basic to more sophisticated, driven by the demand for evidence in policymaking (†Abdul-Hamid et al., 2017). Nonetheless, technology (including hardware and software, but also routines and techniques) is, of course, a major feature of EMIS,⁶ and changing technologies may facilitate new opportunities.

"[EMIS] — A system for the collection, integration, processing, maintenance and dissemination of data and information to support decision-making, policy-analysis and formulation, planning, monitoring and management at all levels of an education system. It is a system of people, technology, models, methods, processes, procedures, rules and regulations that function together to provide education leaders, decision-makers and managers at all levels with a comprehensive, integrated set of relevant, reliable, unambiguous and timely data and information to support them in completion of their responsibilities."

- **Cassidy, 2006**

EMIS technology itself is difficult to pin down. This is unsurprising, given the technology used for an EMIS is a reflection of different country

⁵ High-income countries have more idiosyncratic terminology, often hailing from an age before 'management information'.

⁶ tvan Wyk & Crouch (2020) provide an extensive description of the different components that can make up an EMIS.

contexts and levels of capability. Paper-based processes and spreadsheets remain common features of EMIS in some countries. Other countries have developed or procured their own software, often with the assistance of donors.⁷ Comprehensive open-source solutions that provide a range of modules are also available.⁸ And it is increasingly acknowledged that an EMIS can be built using different components by taking a 'building blocks' approach (†Adam et al., 2021; †Government of Rwanda, 2020; †van Wyk & Crouch, 2020).

However, there is consensus on what an EMIS should do. Its primary purpose is to produce education statistics.⁹ It does this through three main functions — data collection, data integration, and data distribution. Data collection refers to "the classical administrative counts (such as enrolment, teachers, supplies) created via annual (or periodic) censuses and tallies of school data" (tvan Wyk & Crouch, 2020). To avoid confusion later on, from this point on, we refer to the output of this 'classical' process as the *core EMIS dataset*. Data integration refers to the provision of services for different users to use the data. User needs can and should be met in a variety of different ways, but generally refer to the way different users access data. For example, some user needs may be met through standard or customised reports or dashboards; others will require the ability to download datasets; developers may need data to be exposed through an API (application programming interface).

Data collection is the most fundamental function. In principle, data integration and distribution can (and potentially should) be done by others, while collection of the *core EMIS dataset* is the primary function of the EMIS team.¹¹ In this paper, we distinguish between two main types of data collection:

⁷ The introduction of EdTech in lower-income countries is often donor-led and is documented in EdTechHub's Rapid Scan series (†EdTech Hub, 2023) including †Tanzania: Groeneveld & Taddese, 2020; †McBurnie & Beoku-Betts 2021; †Sierra Leone: Mullan & Taddese, 2020).

⁸ For example, Open EMIS and DHIS2. See [†]Adam et al. (2021) for further discussion of both.

⁹ i.e., statistics on schooling such as enrolment, attendance, dropout, and learning such as grade progression.

¹⁰ One of the most fundamental integration tasks for an EMIS team is integration with population datasets, to allow for the calculation of statistics such as the gross enrolment ratio and net enrolment ratio.

¹¹ However, it's not strictly necessary for the EMIS team to be under a ministry of education. In Tanzania, for example, it is in the President's Office (†Dom et al., 2021).

- Active data collection refers to a centralised approach for collecting the core EMIS dataset used in most basic EMIS.¹² Higher levels of government¹³ request a paper-, app-, or web-based standardised questionnaire to be completed by each school to form a census. In basic EMIS, schools may not be able to access this data to service their own needs subsequently (*Abdul-Hamid et al., 2017). And in the absence of enforcement or decisive norms at school level and in intermediate layers of government, incentives for accurate and timely data submission can be weak.¹⁴
- 2. **Passive data collection** refers to the collection of the *core EMIS dataset* from systems that serve other purposes. These systems include:
 - a. School EMIS, which staff use to manage the day-to-day administration of the school. For example, tracking pupil attendance and performance.
 - b. Other EdTech, which schools, teachers, and pupils use while teaching and learning, often with the aim of increasing pupils' learning.¹⁵

How and how well the EMIS delivers these functions matters for PFM.

An EMIS may collect a lot of data, but if that data is not credible and timely, it is unlikely to be of much use for budget policymaking and implementation. The core EMIS dataset may be integrated with data from other systems, including PFM systems. However, unless it structures data

¹² For example, the current EMIS in Pakistan's Balochistan province (*Government of Balochistan, 2022); Sierra Leone's school censuses prior to recent extension (*McBurnie & Beoku-Betts, 2021), the national system in Liberia prior to recently envisaged extension (*Irving & Percier, 2019); and attempts in Uganda, which petered out around 2017 (*AI-Samarrai & Lewis, 2021). However, frequently, all that is left when donor support activities cease is an unverified, delayed, and often incomplete school census and perhaps a yearbook. Uganda is a case in point, although attempts are ongoing to revive an EMIS process.

¹³ Typically, the central government, but in large countries (for example, Pakistan and one province in South Africa), this is managed at the subnational level.

¹⁴ On the other hand, incentives to persist with this approach are relatively strong within higher levels of government due to the rents associated with carrying out large-scale data collection operations (*Samb et al., 2020; *Vian & Sabin, 2012).

¹⁵ For a list of EdTech interventions that have the potential to be used for this purpose, see ¹Moss (2020). For some consideration of how these might be applied in practice, see Section 5.6 of tvan Wyk & Crouch (2020) and tGovernment of Rwanda (2022). The potential benefits include data generation at low marginal cost — i.e., no census is required. Moreover, headcount data is linked with student outcomes and indicators of teacher effort and capability by default.

based on the administrative classifications used in these systems,¹⁶ its value is reduced. Finally, data collection and data integration are of little use unless users can access the data with minimal friction and in formats that meet their needs.

New technologies have expanded the possibilities for collecting a core EMIS dataset, but have downsides.¹⁷ Without willing and trained school staff and systems to meet the costs of connectivity, new survey collection technology may not remove the need for school visits to collect EMIS information. Secure maintenance and adaptation of digital technologies to meet evolving needs require substantial domestic capability after external support ceases. Relying on other EdTech as a source of passive EMIS data collection shifts the risk of non-sustainability to a different team in a ministry of education — but it does not remove the risk.

¹⁶ For example, it uses the same list of subnational governments (provinces, districts, etc.) that are used for the budget.

¹⁷ See ^{*}Bapna et al. (2021) who discuss a 'systems approach' to EdTech.

3. The demand for data

PFM refers to

"the way governments manage public resources (both revenue and expenditure) and the immediate and medium-to-long-term impact of such resources on the economy or society. As such, PFM has to do with both process (how governments manage) and results (short, medium, and long-term implications of financial flows)" (*Andrews et al., 2014: p. 2).

More recently, there have been calls for a more "open" system that "interacts more fluently with all aspects of public policy — namely, government policy choices, government actions (especially service delivery), and development results" (*Hedger et al., 2020a: p. iv*).



Figure 1. Simplified PFM cycle.

With this in mind, this section explores the demand for EMIS data at various points in the PFM cycle (see Figure 1 above). PFM follows a familiar cycle in most countries. There are four broad stages — budget formulation, budget approval, budget execution, and budget evaluation — which overlap with one another.¹⁸ Overall, we note that:

1. The demand for EMIS data is already quite embedded in processes for budget formulation, but mostly relates to improving access rather than alleviating constraints to learning (Section 3.1).

¹⁸ I.e., the budget for the next fiscal year is being prepared as the current budget is being executed, and the previous budget is being evaluated.

2. The demand for EMIS data in processes related to budget approval (Section 3.2), budget execution (Section 3.3), and budget evaluation (Section 3.4) is still quite nascent but with potential to grow.

3.1. Budget formulation

Budget formulation is where government policies are translated into financial plans. This often involves two steps — a policy-oriented strategic phase, followed by a more mechanical budget preparation phase (*Long & Welham, 2016). Throughout this budget process, the finance ministry manages negotiations with spending entities,¹⁹ reconciling spending needs with available resources. EMIS data can play an important role in these negotiations, both in terms of costing policies and allocating resources.²⁰

Headcount data from the *core EMIS dataset* are often sufficient for costing policies related to access to education during budget

formulation. Many governments have *minimum service delivery standards* for what they will spend on a year of schooling. For example, for recurrent spending, these can include maximum pupil-to-teacher ratios and per-learner *capitation grants.*²¹ For capital spending, these can include ratios of pupils to schools and classrooms.²² The basic costing of other functions such as inspection, assessment, teacher training, and procurement of instructional materials such as textbooks is also largely driven by headcount numbers.

Using policy costings to inform allocations to the education sector during the strategic phase of the budget requires engaging with national funding mechanisms. These vary across countries: education is often decentralised, with subnational governments responsible for provision, particularly for basic education. This means that intergovernmental fiscal transfers are often a major source of funding for

¹⁹ I.e., ministries, departments, and agencies.

²⁰ Among the 11 countries for which Systems Approach for Better Education Results (SABER) EMIS survey data is available, seven indicated that they use EMIS data for budgeting (†World Bank, 2022).

²¹ A minimum amount of funding per pupil and often per school to cover various school operating costs, often sent directly to the school. The unit of analysis can be important: early grades and pre-exam grades often have far larger class sizes than other grades in the same school. School-level analysis fails to reflect this.

²² This indicator and others need to be considered alongside other factors (including incentives for maintenance and alternative delivery mechanisms) as well as relative costs of different types of investment which differ across countries and within them. For example, rural and urban areas can differ significantly in costs (*Bertoni et al., 2020*).

the sector, alongside subnationally raised revenues in some countries. Annex I describes how vertical allocations are made for nine countries, including the original six EdTech Hub focus countries. Legally prescribed vertical allocations to subnational governments are an important determinant for funding for the education sector in countries including Brazil, Ghana, Kenya, Pakistan, and South Africa.

Allocating resources across spending entities requires administrative disaggregation of the core EMIS dataset that can be joined up with

data from other sources. Many governments use data-driven methodologies such as allocation formulae to determine the distribution of resources across subnational governments and schools. Annex 2 lists education data that are commonly used for the horizontal allocation of resources. Again, this is often headcount data. The degree of discretion afforded to local governments to allocate resources also varies across countries. Centrally determined capitation grants are the most common feature across these countries. Annex 3 provides details of allocation methodologies for the original six EdTech Hub countries, as well as Brazil, South Africa, Scotland, and Uganda. These allocation methodologies require linking the core EMIS dataset to datasets from other sources. For example, Sierra Leone's education block grant uses enrolment and population data. Uganda's development grant includes indicators based on enrolment, population, and land area.²³

Allocations that target alleviating the constraints to learning require a more detailed core EMIS dataset. Data on enrolment by grade (and ideally by learner) allow for allocation formulae that reward schools and local governments for sustaining progression and transition at 'pain points'.²⁴ Some allocation formulae provide additional amounts for pupils from deprived socio-economic backgrounds or pupils with special needs.²⁵ Data on the qualifications, experience, and performance of teachers may

²⁴ Examples of funding formulas that penalise dropout include Colombia and subnational Brazil (*Bertoni et al., 2020; *Lautharte et al., 2021; *Loureiro et al., 2020). In the past, Uganda and Ethiopia paid primary schools more for children in later grades (*Kayabwe & Elior, 2014; *Kelil et al., 2014). Poorly designed incentives for schools and local governments can also exacerbate dropout, as was the case in Tanzania (*Cilliers et al., 2019).
²⁵ For example, in Uganda (*Al-Samarrai & Lewis, 2021). A formula providing top-ups to schools with pupils with special needs in Tanzania was proposed but not implemented (*Shukia, 2020). Additional capitation grants for children with special needs (both mainstreamed and in specialised schools) have been in place in Kenya for at least a decade (*Githinji, 2021; *Government of Kenya, 2023; *Mwangi, 2013).

²³ In South Africa and Scotland, schools and local authorities work to reallocate resources from the centre by identifying disadvantaged students and schools, while central agencies' identification of disadvantage is calculated for larger areas.

be a factor in determining how they are deployed across and within subnational governments.²⁶ However, this may be located in a distinct personnel management system. Also, data on school characteristics may be used to top up capitation grants.²⁷

Allocations that use data on performance to target constraints to learning require links to datasets beyond the *core EMIS dataset*.

Targeting lower-performing schools and local governments or incentivising better performance requires data outside of the school census. For example, data on student performance on standardised assessments are held by exam boards.²⁸ Countries may also use assessments of local government performance to incentivise improvements in their management of education.²⁹

More recent EMIS projects aim to look 'beyond headcounts' (*UNESCO,

2021). Such projects have often pursued 'real-time' designs, taking advantage of new data collection technologies, which have the potential to be more cost-effective, more useful for decisions and help to link money to results (*Nicolai & Hassler, 2020; Sharma et al., 2021*). However, ambitious designs require greater efforts from data producers and managers and can resemble 'best practice' solutions with little regard to context (*GPE and* Education Data Solutions Roundtable, 2019).

Real-time data is rarely necessary for budgeting, but timely data is.

Budgets are produced annually. Nevertheless, the analysis that underpins budgeting can be a 'permanent activity' (*Long & Welham, 2016). Forecasts of revenues and expenditures are constantly being updated and revised. Alignment of data collection with key moments in the budget process is necessary if it is to be used to inform resource allocations. In higher-income settings, the education census is carried out more frequently. For example, in England, it is conducted three times per year (*UK Government, 2022), while in South Africa, the national government consolidates some EMIS data up to four times per year. Common agreement on which datasets are 'correct' is essential for budget allocation

²⁶ Among the 11 countries for which SABER EMIS survey data is available, five indicated that they use EMIS data for staff planning (†World Bank, 2022). Shifting public servants across locations according to performance has been studied in Sierra Leone (†McBurnie et al., 2021), Uganda (ongoing; †Cohen et al., 2022), and Pakistan (†Khan et al., 2021). ²⁷ See †Ross et al. (1999) for a(n old) review.

²⁸ Linking student performance to provider pecuniary incentives is controversial: for a review of multiple failed examples to sustain programming in Ghana, see †Williams, (2020).

²⁹ Examples include Brazil, Tanzania, and Uganda (*Al-Samarrai & Lewis, 2021; *Di Maro et al., 2021).

negotiations to take place around policies rather than on the basis of competing versions of facts.

In the absence of timely data, budgeting resorts to incrementalism and the inefficient allocation of resources. Budgeting is inherently incremental (*Schick, 1998). Negotiations often use the previous year's budget as a starting point. An absence of up-to-date, reliable data on spending needs may contribute to declines in funding in real per capita terms over time.³⁰ Allocating resources without good data may leave inequities unaddressed and increasing over time. Some systems may struggle to add schools during the budget implementation process due to PFM rigidities, which makes annual coordination important (*Long et al., 2021), while others use EMIS data and processes to help anticipate in-year changes (*Fab Inc, 2021).

3.2. Budget approval

The budget document that is presented to the legislature for approval varies in its level of detail across countries. Most countries provide breakdowns of the budget according to administrative³¹ and economic³² classifications, which are used as input-based controls for the execution of the budget. More governments are now also including programme segments in their budgets to reflect the purpose of spending,³³ and linking these to indicators for the outputs and outcomes they are expected to produce. Often referred to as performance budgeting, these reforms aim to provide decision-makers, including the legislature, as well as wider civil society, with further information on the budget. Among low- and

³⁰ For example, funding often falls as a result of population growth without funding growth. New data appears to help: *Best et al. (2013) conclude that there is an influence of learning assessments on allocation decisions, including in 13 cases on formula allocation. Ineffective domestic articulation and low elite visibility of education needs may contribute to financial neglect: Uganda is a case in point. Here the government presided over dramatic declines in real per-student spending in the late 2000s and early 2010s

^{(*}Al-Samarrai & Lewis, 2021; *Long et al.,2021) as in Tanzania (*Dom et al., 2021), and many other countries during the current inflationary period.

³¹ I.e., ministries, departments, and agencies, and by level of government depending on the federal structure. See *International Budget Partnership* (2022).

³² Typical categories include recurrent expenditures (salaries and wages; goods and services and; transfers and subsidies) and capital expenditures.

³³ For example, in the education sector it is common to have programmes for pre-primary, primary, secondary, and tertiary education with further sub-programmes beneath these. Many systems (e.g., in Pakistan, South Africa, England and Egypt) run combined-level schools, which need careful delineation if programme budgeting is to be meaningful for some types of analysis. Pre-primary education is particularly difficult because provision often 'borrows' resources from primary school sites.

middle-income unitary countries,³⁴ Kenya stands out for detailed linkage of performance information combined with timely, high-quality performance review of evolving enrolment and unit costs (†Government of Kenya, 2023).

Budget information oriented towards education quality is nascent at best. For example, delineations for critical programmes, including in-service teacher training, are difficult or impossible to find in most budget proposals. Measures of education quality from outside of the EMIS, such as learning assessments, are often difficult to compare (small changes year-to-year matter to politicians but may not be statistically significant (see discussion on Tanzania in *Dom et al., 2021). Learning assessments might be irregularly funded by donors and can be difficult for governments to implement at a useful quality on a regular basis.³⁵ As learning assessments are usually sample-based, they might be difficult to link to system performance in a way that is salient for decision-makers (*Crawfurd et al., 2021).

Deciding on what indicators to use requires balancing the costs and benefits of performance information. The history of performance-based budgeting in higher-income contexts is unremarkable (*Moynihan & Beazley, 2016). Governments have struggled to balance the information needs of decision-makers with the administrative burden of compiling and presenting that information. A good sector annual review might be difficult to produce in line with the budget cycle due to the timing of the school year, due to poor donor alignment with country systems, or due to thinly spread planning and reporting resources. The extent to which the EMIS dataset, which contains data on outputs related to access, can be easily linked to other datasets on outputs and outcomes related to learning constraints is a determinant of the administrative burdens involved.

More could be done to understand the information needs of the legislature, particularly the relevant legislative education committees.³⁶

Performance budgeting often fails to meet the needs of decision-makers, overloading them with information they don't understand, don't want, and

³⁴ At least, among Anglophone countries.

³⁵ Punjab in Pakistan and Western Cape provinces in South Africa are notable exceptions. Here, the provincial governments have persistently supported learning assessments. As in richer countries, high-stakes examinations are often not a reliable measure of quality (see, for example, *Rossiter et al.*, (2021).

³⁶ International Budget Partnership (2022) provides information on which countries had a *de facto* parliamentary budget review in 2019/20. Coppedge, M. et al. (2023) also provide perception-based indicators of this role.

don't use (Moynihan & Beazley, 2016). However, outside of the rigidities of performance budgeting, there may be ways to use EMIS data to provide more timely and relevant information to the legislature that links spending and performance by responding intelligently to their user needs.

3.3. Budget execution

Budget execution is "the set of processes through which governments deliver on the promises and proposals included in the budget" (Andrews et al., 2014: p. 4). Two main problems stand out around budget execution in the education sector in lower-income countries — unreliable fund flows and misaligned incentives.³⁷ Data from EMIS has been brought to bear on both.

Centralised data on schools and enrolment that is linked to the treasury system is useful for combating leakages in the flow of funds.

Public expenditure tracking surveys (PETS) and audits have shown that funds and other in-kind resources budgeted for schools do not always reach them,³⁸ while teachers are sometimes paid late, not in full, or not at all. Some governments³⁹ have responded with new processes for transferring resources directly to schools.⁴⁰ This requires a ready linkage between the EMIS and the treasury system, which is often a computerised financial management information system (FMIS). Similarly, EMIS data may be useful in the centralised procurement and distribution of teaching materials such as textbooks.⁴¹ In systems where local governments remain part of the distribution channel, EMIS data remain a good check against ghost schools and students and in ensuring that schools are not being short-changed.

Results-based financing (RBF) is heavily reliant on a highly functional

EMIS. In many contexts, the focus of the education sector is shifting from access to quality. In response, donors offer a variety of results-based financing instruments to governments in low- and middle-income countries to incentivise unblocking obstacles to learning, including teacher

³⁸ For example, a survey of 250 Ugandan schools found that they received just 13% of their capitation grant on average and that most schools received nothing (*Reinikka & Svensson, 2004). In Pakistan, only a quarter of surveyed government schools report receiving grants in 2021, a decline from 40% in 2020 ASER (2022).

³⁹ Including Tanzania, Rwanda, and Uganda.

³⁷ These are also prominent problems in other service delivery sectors, where funds released are not used for their intended purpose.

⁴⁰ Often referred to as direct facility financing or straight-through transfers, since they are ringfenced away from subnational government reallocation.

⁴¹ Which in Tanzania and South Africa are informed by data from the EMIS.

attendance and teaching, student attendance, school management, curriculum alignment, and resource allocation.⁴² Some governments have integrated results with financing to some extent, notably Brazil (Mello et al., 2021). Results-based arrangements range from withholding a portion of financing if enrolment, attendance, or other targets are not achieved in a certain period to an elaborate range of payouts for governments, households, teachers, and schools. These payouts improve a pre-agreed set of input, efficiency, output, impact, and outcome measures. RBF programmes provide "rewards after the credible verification of an achieved result." To be successfully implemented, "a functioning EMIS is needed for all monitoring and evaluation efforts, which are the key feature of RBF operations" (*Lee & Medina, 2019: p. 50). New EdTech, if carefully implemented, opens up new opportunities for cross-checking the integrity of results and rewarding better practices. However, attaching rewards to indicators might undermine EMIS credibility by creating incentives to misreport.

The use of RBF in budget execution places greater reliance on higher-frequency EMIS data. Releases and payments for RBF are usually made quarterly, if not more frequently. Integrating EMIS data into budget execution processes can therefore create demands for higher frequency EMIS data.

Data needs from the EMIS will inevitably change as countries attempt reforms, including PFM reforms. Developing capable professionals inside government, who can adapt interventions initially supported by donors to better fit how they end up being used, should be a priority for EdTech practitioners. If this isn't feasible, EdTech implementations and any PFM reforms they support are necessarily short-term.

3.4. Budget evaluation

Following the end of the fiscal year, performance is evaluated in various ways. The government produces financial statements which are scrutinised by auditors, and some supreme audit institutions also carry out *value-for-money audits* (*Andrews et al., 2014). *Spending reviews* are also becoming increasingly common (*Doherty & Sayegh, 2022). The overarching purpose of these evaluations and others is to improve how resources are allocated and used in future budget cycles.

⁴² **Lee & Medina (2019)** provide a comprehensive overview of results-based financing in education. **Dom et al. (2021)** examine government experiences of results-based financing in education in three countries: Mozambique, Nepal, and Tanzania.

For EMIS data to be useful in budget evaluation (and similarly for other budget stages), it should be easy to access and link to other sources of

data. At a basic level, integrating EMIS data with expenditure data allows for wider understanding of imbalances in spending that are not aligned with strategic priorities. For example, spending reviews in Bangladesh (†Bhatta et al., 2019), Ghana (†Government of Ghana, 2018), and Tanzania (†Dom et al., 2021) raise concerns about increasing imbalances in per capita spending on primary education compared to secondary and tertiary education, not just in terms of allocative efficiency, but also regressivity. †Walter (2020) links imbalances in teacher allocation with decreased aggregate learning, using EMIS data from 91 countries.

EMIS data is also useful for more disaggregated analysis of where resources are deployed. Generating policy, operational, and management insights into removing binding constraints on learning⁴³ requires more disaggregated data — on individual pupils, teachers, and classes — and more extensive linkages to datasets from systems for assessment, learning, inspection, human resource management, and payroll (*Hua & Herstein*, 2003; *Rossiter*, 2020).

> "Ensuring learning and schooling for all is complex, and cannot be achieved without a dramatic change in the way we combine and use data. Linked data allow us to examine things like equity in resource allocation, including key dimensions such as teacher quality, or identify relatively high-performing districts and schools and test relationships between school inspection and student achievement."

Jack Rossiter, 2020

Using EMIS data to produce evidence within established PFM processes improves the chances of uptake. Policymakers often treat

⁴³ Steps governments can take to alleviate learning constraints that are related to the budget might include ensuring financial resources get to the right school reliably and addressing other bottlenecks to a coherent education offer, such as misguided or unclear information about what the resources are for (†Pritchett, 2015). Such steps could include, fairer teacher allocation across stages, grades, and geographies; ensuring extra teaching support for very large classes (at some level, classes may be too large to deploy effective pedagogical techniques); improving resource levels and management for critical programmes such as early years' education, teacher and learner materials, basic classroom materials; and (more ambitiously) assessing whether in-service teacher training is effective.

externally generated and particularly sample-based data differently from analysis produced using their own administrative data (*Brookings, 2018; *Crawfurd et al., 2021). Moreover, national and local evidence is important as there are few generalisable interventions that governments can use to tackle learning constraints reliably across different contexts and education providers (*Evans & Popova, 2016; *Kerwin & Thornton, 2021; *Vivalt, 2020). Where governments lack the capability to generate some types of insights, opening up this data to others, such as academics, might produce evidence with some potential to inform policy in lower-income contexts (*Rossiter, 2020). Furthermore, finance ministries are likely to be more aligned with 'paying for quality' than many ministries of education due to closer alignment with government-wide expenditure efficiency goals.

4. The supply of data

The discussion in the previous sections highlights various points throughout the PFM cycle where there is strong demand for EMIS data. However, this demand comes with three main requirements:

- Firstly, to be useful, the data needs to be credible;
- Secondly, the scope of data collection needs to be broad enough to include consideration of constraints to learning as well as access;
- Thirdly, it needs to be relatively easy to access and link the EMIS data to other sources of data.

In this section, we describe some of the persistent shortcomings of EMIS on the supply side to meet these requirements.

4.1. Credibility

The use of EMIS data in budget formulation presents a problem for its credibility. By linking resource allocation to headcounts, the PFM system can generate incentives for local governments and headteachers to inflate numbers to attract more funding. Comparing EMIS data with household survey data from the same period, **Sandefur & Glassman (2015)* concluded that reported enrolment in low-income countries (LICs) was inflated by official sources; capitation grants could incentivise this. Analysis conducted for this study confirms that increases in and levels of primary gross enrolment remain inflated in administrative data for LICs, and primary out-of-school rates for LICs are underestimated by administrative data (see Table 1 below).

Nevertheless, the median absolute difference in primary gross enrolment ratios is nine percentage points. Ghost pupils, teachers, and schools remain a problem even in relatively high-functioning education systems, including Kenya's (Muchunguh, 2021). Twenty-two DHS-surveyed countries had at least three percentage points higher administrative enrolment rates than survey-estimated primary gross attendance rates including Ghana, Malawi, Pakistan, and Sierra Leone.

These differences are meaningful. Recently, globally reported EMIS gross enrolment counts (*levels*) demonstrate (on aggregate) undercoverage in the administrative data in many countries. For the most recent DHS estimates for 49 countries, UIS-collected EMIS observations for the same year suggest the EMIS data undercount 23 million children in primary school (net). The net result stems from undercounting in a few large countries. Differences in reported primary repeater rates are often substantial and affect countries across income levels.

Table 1. Comparing primary gross enrolment ratios, out-of-school rates, and repetition rates between administrative data and household surveys.

	Household surveys	Administrative data
Increase in primary education	on gross enrolment ratios (r	nean)
LICs	3.9 p.p.	7.8 p.p.
LMICs	2.3 p.p.	-1.1 p.p.
UMICs	-2.2 p.p.	-2.5 p.p.
Primary gross enrolment an	d attendance ratios (mean)	
LICs	99%	107%
LMICs	102%	107%
UMICs	104%	101%
Primary out-of-school rate (mean)	
LICs	27%	17%
LMICs	9%	12%
UMICs	3%	5%
Primary grade repeater sha	res (median)	
LICs	13.0%	9.9%
LMICs	3.3%	1.8%
UMICs	2.9%	0.5%

p.p.= percentage points. Sources: DHS via Statcompiler (gross primary attendance rate), UIS (administrative data and school-age populations (†USAID, no date)); †UNESCO (2023) (out-of-school rates), UNICEF MICS data various years (calculated repeater shares from 27 countries) (†UNICEF, 2022). Notes: Change in primary enrolment is between periods where data is available in both DHS and UIS from 1999 until 2019 using 67 pairs. Gross enrolment/attendance measures are from DHS and UIS (latest measure for 49 countries, up to two UIS adjacent years are used where UIS data is missing). Repetition rates are taken from UIS administrative and MICS survey data for the same year between 2015 and 2022 (27 countries). Each country has equal weight. Population estimates may differ between measures, but this is unlikely to account for large differences.

Data credibility problems are particularly pertinent for centralised data collection. Completing the education census can represent a significant administrative burden for head teachers and teachers (*Ombui, 2013; *Pettersson et al., 2017). A sample of school census questionnaires in 21 lower-income countries shows that the length varies from one page to 38 pages, with some governments asking schools for almost 1,000 data points *Center for Global Development (2022). Some of these questions could be asked less frequently or not at all.⁴⁴

These exercises often offer schools little in return, given they are subsequently unable to access and use the data they report. Centralised data collection, which imposes heavy burdens on head teachers and offers little in return, is more likely to be treated as an exercise in compliance than with genuine engagement (*Eddy-Spicer et al., 2016).⁴⁵

Verification mechanisms to ensure data credibility can be expensive.

Performance-based financing programs (see Section 3.3 above) use verification mechanisms to ensure the credibility of the data. "Cleaning" school returns to address anomalies is also a feature of many donor-funded programmes. However, questions remain as to whether these may be too costly (financially, technically, or politically) to mainstream into government operations (*Lee & Medina, 2019). Expanding the scope of data collection and improving its interoperability may offer more viable (as well as complimentary) alternatives to improving the credibility of EMIS data (see Sections 4.2 and 4.3 below). Changing the mode of data collection towards a school-facing approach may somewhat address the incentives for accurate reporting.

4.2. Scope

Shifting the PFM system from one that supports schooling, to one that supports both access and alleviating learning constraints, requires more disaggregated data collection. The data required to formulate,

⁴⁴ Examples: (1) frequently requesting information on whether large infrastructure exists or not in a system that doesn't fund much improvement or expect much non-state intervention could be one area for reducing questionnaire length; (2) if teachers are identified in the data, pre-service qualifications will not change much over time; and (3) if there is a large and persistent problem with the accuracy of repetition and dropout data, and no plausible remedy, then perhaps EMIS designers should stop asking schools about repeaters and leavers, and rely on household surveys instead.

⁴⁵ Recently in Uganda, recorded grade repetition rates have been shown to be underreported in light of the incentive for headteachers to report 'correct' behaviour to authorities for a quieter life secured by telling administrators what they want to hear (*Weatherholt et al., 2019).

implement, and evaluate budget policies that help address the learning crisis go "beyond headcounts" (*GPE and Education Data Solutions Roundtable, 2019). For more informed decision-making processes, analysts need data about what is happening at the level of the individual student, teacher, and in schools. This is essential if they are to better understand the reasons behind major issues including low levels of basic skills, grade repetition and dropout and consider potential remedies to them.

However, very few EMIS can track individual student performance.

Tracking pupils over time requires a system with pupil identification. This is not a common functionality in implemented EMIS, particularly in lower-income countries. Of the 11 countries that have had SABER EMIS assessments, only in the USA were "teachers able to track pupil performance in various subjects / classes", while only the US, Fiji, and Romania were able to follow pupils between levels of education (*World Bank, 2022).

Going beyond headcounts implies devolving the collection of data to the school level. Top-down efforts to track pupils are often not feasible, and so many countries that track individual pupils have school-managed EMIS. These systems are used to manage the school's operations: for example, recording student attendance and performance. They also provide accountability to proximate stakeholders: for example, to parents, school boards, and local government education departments.

Expanding the scope and changing the mode of collection helps to address other issues. Beyond providing more disaggregated data for analysts, expanding the scope and regularity of data collection and devolving greater responsibility to schools has several potential benefits for how EMIS data interacts with the PFM system.

- 1. Firstly, regular data on individual pupils is more time-consuming to manipulate, even more so if it is linked to other administrative systems.
- 2. Secondly, a by-product of school-level EMIS is that it reduces the administrative burden of supplying local governments and the central government with headcount numbers.⁴⁶

⁴⁶ While there is undoubtedly an administrative burden associated with managing a school-level EMIS, the burden of completing census questionnaires is greatly reduced, and there are potentially much greater returns to the school's management having access to this data. Moreover, the digitalisation of record keeping at the school level may reduce existing administrative burdens, and a schools-first approach may allow teething

- 3. Thirdly, there is greater potential for using real-time data when required. At a minimum, the reduced administrative burden can allow for more timely data to be supplied for key decision points in the budget process. Funds can be released according to changing circumstances or perhaps aspects of performance during budget execution.
- 4. Finally, while new technology implies new costs, open-source solutions are widely available, and a school-level EMIS could reduce the cost and rent-seeking behaviour associated with carrying out the census using questionnaires.

Shifting to fully passive data collection would not be possible in many contexts. A fully passive EMIS, where the census data is extracted from "high-EdTech" tools such as biometrics, pupils' and teachers' computers as described in 2b in Section 2, relies on a step change in the availability of high-quality digital interventions and prerequisites. These require electricity, connectivity, or at the very least, intermittent access to upload facilities, all of which are not necessarily available in most low- and many middle-income contexts, particularly in rural schools. It relies chiefly on the sustained adoption of learning-focused ICT tools, which are costly to deploy and maintain at scale. Frontline workers may resist, be unable to access funds to maintain the tools, or just find it difficult to use them.⁴⁷

4.3. Interoperability

Administrative systems often duplicate data, which can impact the coherence of PFM processes. A mapping of the data ecosystem in Sierra Leone shows multiple entities handle data on teachers, enrolment, payroll, and lesson observation. The proliferation is partly related to the perceived need to verify data from other sources, and there is no mechanism to ensure data is shared between them (*McBurnie & Beoku-Betts, 2021). Uganda also has different systems for handling teacher data that are not linked.⁴⁸ Education census questionnaires often ask for data on teachers, funding, and exam results that are available from other information

problems to work themselves out locally rather than as part of an often antagonistic, centrally driven project.

⁴⁷ For example, see *Banerjee et al. (2008).

⁴⁸ A teacher management information system (TMIS) managed by the education ministry duplicates some of the purposes of the integrated personnel and payroll system (IPPS) managed by the public service ministry. However, the former also includes data on qualified teachers outside the government system.

systems.⁴⁹ As well as increasing administrative burdens, this duplication can result in discrepancies between 'official' sources of data and multiple versions of the 'truth', which provide a poor basis for budget negotiations.

This siloed mentality can also lead to institutions not using data they should be using in PFM processes. For example, in Egypt, the General Authority for Educational Buildings uses a separate information system to identify the needs of schools. This helps result in schools which are "built in places where existing population densities do not require them, and crowded schools are left as they are" (*Sobhy, 2019).⁵⁰

Donors sometimes contribute to interoperability issues by reinforcing silos. In Sierra Leone, EMIS components have been funded by separate donors using distinct technologies (*Mullan & Taddese, 2020). A study in Kenya and South Africa concluded that the incentives for donors, government agencies, and ICT professionals to perpetuate digital fragmentation are often influential (*Walker, 2016).⁵¹

The inability to exchange data is a problem for PFM processes which are reliant on joined-up datasets. Policy costings and allocation formula (Section 3.1), and budget evaluation methodologies (Section 3.4) all require linking datasets from different government systems. Direct facility financing and results-based financing (Section 3.3) requires data exchange between the EMIS, budget systems, and treasury systems. Common problems encountered include:

- 1. Accessing data from different administrative systems⁵²
- 2. Mapping data from different datasets onto one another⁵³
- 3. Different lists for the same thing in different systems.⁵⁴

 $^{^{\}rm 49}$ l.e., from human resource management and / or payroll information systems, the financial management information system, and the information system of the exam board, respectively.

⁵⁰ Pakistan exemplifies similar behaviour (*Kakar et al., 2022; *RISE, 2023).

⁵¹ Contracts and payments may be attached to information-gathering exercises, or even to the procurement and training required for new EMIS systems.

⁵² Data in administrative systems is sometimes sensitive, particularly data related to individuals. For example, individual students in education systems, or teachers in human resources (HR) and payroll systems. Obtaining access may be time-consuming or simply impossible.

⁵³ The databases and architecture of some administrative systems can be large and complex, requiring specialist knowledge to extract data in the formats required. For example, financial and HR administrative systems.

⁵⁴ For example, without a shared list of local governments across administrative systems, it is difficult to match the data required in allocation formulae. Unless an exam board records a student's school in the same way it is recorded in the EMIS it is difficult to match them to identify correlations between provision and learning constraints. Delays in the

These interoperability issues reduce the timeliness of data, making it less useful for PFM processes, and making EMIS less sustainable.

Interoperability issues mean that in practice, data needs to be cleaned, reformatted, matched etc. The time for subsequent analysis is reduced and its timeliness in PFM processes is compromised. Often, responsibility and the skills required for ensuring interoperability (i.e., data cleaning, matching etc.) lie within external project teams implementing systems. As these projects come to a conclusion, it is difficult for governments to sustain this function. Moreover, the same issues tend to recur annually, making it more likely that data will be ignored in PFM processes over time. This may go some way towards explaining why EMIS commonly fall into disrepair once a donor project ends.

flow of funds can occur where the list of schools in the EMIS cannot be easily reconciled with the list of schools in the treasury system.

5. The future of EMIS

Based on the discussion in the previous sections, this section considers some of the principles that future versions of EMIS might aspire towards, to ensure they can respond to the demands of the PFM system.

As well as addressing some of the persistent shortcomings in the supply of data from EMIS to the PFM system, combined, these principles can enable a 'building blocks'⁵⁵ approach to EMIS development that allows it to evolve and interact more fluently with the demands of the budget process.

While some of these principles seem obvious, they represent a step change from current practices in many low, lower-middle, and more prosperous countries. National and local government officials make decisions on most education financing. Greater understanding of the principles EMIS should rest on, might help enable governments to tackle persistent inefficiencies and unlock the potential of education financing.

5.1. A subsidiarity principle for data collection

The central government should only actively collect data from schools if schools are unable to do so themselves.⁵⁶ Otherwise, they should passively collect data from school-level EMIS (or potentially other EdTech). Similarly, EMIS should not duplicate the collection of data collected through other administrative systems across government.

"EMIS should not try to encompass all possible forms of data collection processes, as this can easily become unmanageable and risks overloading staff. EMIS simply cannot be the one-stop shop for all the data collection processes required in the education sector; i.e. it cannot be everything to everyone."

Chris van Wyk and Louis Crouch, 2020

School level data can empower school staff to improve learning outcomes (*McBurnie et al., 2022). Devolved responsibility for data collection also

⁵⁵ See ⁽Adam et al., (2021).

⁵⁶ Among the reasons that schools in lower-income countries may be unable to manage a school EMIS are lack of internet and electricity (*Bashir et al., 2018). School access to electricity in LICs has barely changed since 2015 (*UNESCO, 2022). The education sector hasn't had a solar push to the same extent as health (*GAVI, 2018).

brings EMIS closer to the production of data in real time. While real-time data may not be necessary for PFM processes, it has benefits over other modes of data collection in terms of its timeliness and, potentially, credibility.

5.2. A 'single source of truth' principle

EMIS should be built on reliable lists of information, known as 'registers' in recent digital literature. For example, the same list of schools, with the same coding structure and a harmonised set of aggregation and review / cleaning and mastering practices, should be used across the various systems used for collecting headcount data, managing examinations, carrying out school inspections, and supplying teaching materials.⁵⁷

"A lot of data (not all of it, but a lot of it) should exist as reliable lists of information: registers. A register is a single source of truth. It's the only source of information about its subject matter."

– Tom Loosemore, 2019

Moreover, EMIS should use the registers for canonical lists that are maintained by other parts of government. For example, governments should use a single authoritative list of subnational governments and staffing structures that are also used in the budget, treasury, and payroll systems. The systems used for generating unique identifiers should be robust to changes in subnational administrative categories.

Not only would this go a long way towards making it easier to link datasets necessary for PFM processes, it could also contribute to early detection of any anomalies impacting the credibility of data.

5.3. An openness principle

Users of data shouldn't have to understand the intricacies of administrative systems or need to make multiple requests to access the data they need. Data should ideally be exposed (securely) through APIs based on open standards.

⁵⁷ It is worth noting that [†]Hua & Herstein (2003) made the same points almost two decades ago.

"Open standards mean that different teams can be confident that they are speaking the same language, and the designers of public facing services can build on top of reliable, predictable data."

- Richard Pope, 2019: p. 20

Security should be built into the design of these APIs. For example, for the education sector, appropriate aggregation and anonymisation of data can provide much of the security needed to address privacy concerns.

However, APIs are not for everyone. They primarily meet the needs of developers building digital services on top of an EMIS, for example, reporting tools and dashboards. Other users are likely to require easier-to-use tools that they can customise to their own needs. For example, downloads in formats they are accustomed to using, such as spreadsheets.

6. Recommendations

Implementing the principles highlighted above in Section 5 goes beyond what an education ministry (or EMIS team) can do on its own. Finance ministries that want to support a PFM system that contributes to unlocking learning gains, and not just access, have a role to play in digital transformation. Donors are also likely to have a continuing role to play, both in terms of funding and knowledge dissemination. Our recommendations are therefore structured towards these three main actors.

To put EMIS on a more sustainable footing, education ministries (or EMIS teams) should leverage existing and potential demand for data, including:

- Leveraging demand from the PFM system improving the relationship between the demand and supply of data can make EMIS more viable after donor support ends, and drive further refinements. Steps the education ministry should consider include:
 - a. Meeting current user needs current demands are often more established for budget formulation than for other stages. To be more useful for policy costings and allocation methodologies, the core EMIS dataset must be interoperable with other government datasets, i.e., they must use the same registers.
 - b. Maintaining an active dialogue on future user needs demands around other stages of the budget cycle are emergent. As a primary customer for the data, budget managers should be involved in discussions of EMIS reforms early and often.
 - c. Weigh up the costs and benefits future EMIS development should be cognisant of changing policy priorities in the education sector in the country in question, and collect data appropriate to informing those policies. However, careful choices are likely to be necessary, weighing up the usefulness of data against the administrative burden and evolving priorities. Ideally, EMIS should be built in such a way as to allow flexibility in terms of the scope and ways data can be collected while maintaining at least some core coverage.

- d. **Avoid duplication** ideally, data collected via other government systems should not be collected by an EMIS. A notable exception is where it may be required for verification purposes: for example, whether or not teachers on payroll are in post at the right school.
- 2. Leverage demand from schools school-facing data systems that fulfil genuine school-level demands, and allow passive collection of data for higher levels of government, are preferable to top down 'active' data collection in terms of timeliness, credibility, and the scope of data that can be collected. Steps an education ministry should consider include:
 - a. **Asynchronous onboarding** schools that can manage their own data should be encouraged to do so; when designing financial allocations, efforts should be made not to disadvantage schools who cannot do so.
 - b. **Creating feedback loops** for schools that cannot manage their own data collection, services should be built that allow them to use the data that is actively collected. This should be a minimum standard, not a 'nice-to-have'.
 - c. **Improving verification** spot checks to ensure data collected are correct, are costly. Integration with school inspection systems and non-state actors should be considered where appropriate.
 - d. **Promoting the use of data** for example, supporting easy comparisons with neighbouring, (attainably) better-performing, and similarly resourced schools.

To support the efforts of the education ministry (or EMIS team) the finance ministry and / or donors should **support a 'whole of government' approach**. An education ministry alone cannot ensure that other parts of government follow *single source of truth* and openness principles. A finance ministry and / or donors may have more appropriate carrots and sticks to ensure these principles are adhered to. Steps they should consider include:

1. **Supporting the establishment of a central digital team** — central digital teams can coordinate digital transformation across government, including ensuring there is appropriate governance of

registers in place and defining what good looks like in terms of open standards.

2. **Funding teams over projects** — modern approaches to digital transformation — such as a 'building blocks' approach — require governments and funders to rebalance their spending away from capital-intensive donor-driven spending on comprehensive solutions. Instead, they must build and durably fund government capability to manage and adapt different components, with donors assisting within a government programme.

A final word of caution. While this paper has focused on EMIS and our recommendations on how finance ministries can support their sustainability, governments should also take care to encourage the use of sample-based and non-state options for information gathering and policymaking. Costs can be lower than through government-run EMIS activities and objectives such as accuracy and quality are often better aligned with non-state incentives, than the incentives of government officials.

Bibliography

- Abdul-Hamid, H. (2014). What Matters Most for Education Management Information Systems: A Framework Paper (7; SABER Working Paper Series). World Bank Group. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/2158 6/944490WP00PUBL0Framework0SABER0EMIS.pdf?sequence=1&i sAllowed=y
- Abdul-Hamid, H., Saraogi, N., & Mintz, S. (2017). Lessons Learned from World Bank Education Management Information System Operations: Portfolio Review, 1998–2014. Washington, DC: World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1056-5
- Adam, T., El-Serafy, Y., Podea, M., & Haßler, B. (2021). The use of 'building blocks' to develop digital platforms for education in sub-Saharan Africa. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0049
- Allen, R. I., Chaponda, T., Ray, R., & Fisher, L. (2017). *IMF Working Papers Volume 2017 Issue 203: Medium-Term Budget Frameworks in Sub-Saharan African Countries (2017).* https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/001/2017/203/001.2017.issu e-203-en.xml
- Al-Samarrai, S., & Lewis, B. (2021). The Role of Intergovernmental Fiscal Transfers in Improving Education Outcomes. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1693-2
- Andrews, M., Cangiano, M., Cole, N., Renzio, P., Krause, P., & Seligmann, R. (2014). *This is PFM* (CID Working Paper 285). Center for International Development. https://www.hks.harvard.edu/centers/cid/publications/faculty-worki ng-papers/pfm
- Annual Status of Education Report 2021. (2022). ASER. http://aserpakistan.org/document/aser/2021/reports/national/ASER_r eport_National_2021.pdf
- Aslam, M., & Rawal, S. (2021). Formative Evaluation of GPE's Support for Response to the COVID-19 Crisis [Summative Evaluation]. GPE. https://assets.globalpartnership.org/s3fs-public/document/file/2021-1 1-formative-evaluation-gpe-support-covid-19.pdf?VersionId=WQUW VbBn_QToLPhjLBxoHQyleJcvQ2tk

- Atuhurra, J., & Kaffenburger, M. (2019). Improving School Performance through School Ranking: The Double-Edged Sword of Accountability. *RISE Programme*. https://riseprogramme.org/blog/improving_school_performance_TZ
- Banerjee, A. V., Duflo, E., & Glennerster, R. (2008). Putting a band-aid on a corpse: Incentives for nurses in the Indian public health care system. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 6(2–3), 487–500. https://doi.org/10.1162/JEEA.2008.6.2-3.487
- Bapna, A., Nicolai, S., Myers, C., Pellini, A., Sharma, N., & Wilson, S. (2021). A Case for a Systems Approach to EdTech. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5651995
- Bashir, S., Lockheed, M., Ninan, E., & Tan, J.-P. (2018). Facing Forward: Schooling for Learning in Africa. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1260-6
- Bertoni, E., Elacqua, G., Marotta, L., Martínez, M., Santos, H., & Soares, S. (2020). Is School Funding Unequal in Latin America?: A Cross-country Analysis. https://doi.org/10.18235/0002854
- Best, M., Knight, P., Lietz, P., Lockwood, C., Nugroho, D., & Tobin, M. (2013). The impact of national and international assessment programmes on education policy, particularly policies regarding resource allocation and teaching and learning practices in developing countries. *Assessment and Reporting*. https://research.acer.edu.au/ar_misc/16
- Bhatta, S. D., Genoni, M. E., Sharma, U., Khaltarkhuu, B. E., Maratou-Kolias, L., & Asaduzzaman, T. M. (2019). *Bangladesh Education Sector Public Expenditure Review*. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35956
- Birger, F., & Craissati, D. (Eds.). (2009). Abolishing School Fees in Africa: Lessons Learned in Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya and Mozambique. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-0-8213-7540-2
- Bold, T., Filmer, D., Martin, G., Molina, E., Rockmore, C., Stacy, B.,
 Svensson, J., & Wane, W. (2017). What Do Teachers Know and Do?
 Does It Matter? Evidence from Primary Schools in Africa (Working Paper 7956; Policy Research Working Paper). World Bank.
 https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-7956

- Bold, T., Kimenyi, M., Mwabu, G., Ng'ang'a, A., & Sandefur, J. (2018). Experimental evidence on scaling up education reforms in Kenya. *Journal of Public Economics*, *168*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2018.08.007
- Bridges, K., & Woolcock, M. (2017). How (Not) to Fix Problems that Matter: Assessing and Responding to Malawi's History of Institutional Reform [Working Paper]. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-8289
- Brookings. (2018). Toward data-driven education systems: Insights into using information to measure results and manage change. Brookings Institution.

https://www.brookings.edu/research/toward-data-driven-education -systems-insights-into-using-information-to-measure-results-andmanage-change/

- Cangiano, M., Curristine, T., & Lazare, M. (2013). *Public Financial Management and Its Emerging Architecture*. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Books/Issues/2016/12/31/Public-Financial-Management-and-Its-Emerging-Architecture-40035
- Cassidy, T. (2006). Education Management Information Systems (EMIS) in Latin America and the Caribbean: Lessons and challenges. VIII Regional Policy Dialogue Meeting, Education Network, Washington, D.C.

https://publications.iadb.org/en/publication/education-managemen t-information-systems-emis-latin-america-and-caribbean-lessons-a nd

- Center for Global Development. (2022). *Global Experience with EMIS (unpublished note)*. Center for Global Development.
- Center for Public Impact. (2016). The politics of performance in Punjab. Centre For Public Impact (CPI). https://www.centreforpublicimpact.org/insights/the-politics-of-punj ab-performance
- Cilliers, J., Mbiti, I., & Zeitlin, A. (2019). Can Public Rankings Improve School Performance? Evidence from a Nationwide Reform in Tanzania [RISE Working Paper Series. 19/027]. https://doi.org/10.35489/BSG-RISE-WP_2019/027
- Clist, P. (2019). Payment by results in international development: Evidence from the first decade. *Development Policy Review*, *37*(6), 719–734. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12405
- Cohen, I., Dal Bo, E., Finan, F., Omala, K., & Schonholzer, D. (2022). Teacher Rotation and Student Outcomes: Experimental Evidence from Uganda. Working paper.

https://edi.opml.co.uk/resource/teacher-rotation-and-student-outco mes-experimental-evidence-from-uganda-2/

- Coppedge, M. et al. (2023). V-Dem Dataset v13 (Version 13) [dataset]. Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem) Project. https://doi.org/10.23696/VDEMDS23
- CPDI. (2018). Policy Paper on Punjab Provincial Finance Commission (PFC) Award. https://www.cpdi-pakistan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Policy-Paper-Punjab-PFC-Award.pdf
- Crawfurd, L., Minardi, A., Hare, S., & Sandefur, J. (2021). Understanding Education Policy Preferences: Survey Experiments with Policymakers in 35 Developing Countries. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/understanding-education-policy -preferences-survey-experiments-policymakers-35-developing
- da Silva, E. A., Pedrozo, E. A., & da Silva, T. N. (2022). PNAE (National School Feeding Program) and its events of expansive learnings at municipal level. *World*, *3*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/world3010005
- Das, J., Dercon, S., Habyarimana, J., & Krishnan, P. (2005). Teacher shocks and student learning: Evidence from Zambia. In *Policy Research Working Paper Series* (3602; Policy Research Working Paper Series). The World Bank. https://ideas.repec.org/p/wbk/wbrwps/3602.html
- Department of Basic Education, Republic of South Africa. (2021). National Education Infrastructure Management System Report as at 12 April 2021. Government of the Republic of South Africa. https://www.education.gov.za/Portals/0/Documents/Reports/NEIMS %20STANDARD%20REPORT%202021.pdf?ver=2021-05-20-094532-5 70
- DHIS. (2022). DHIS2 for Education. DHIS2. https://dhis2.org/education/

- Di Maro, V., Evans, D. K., Khemani, S., & Scot, T. (2021). *Building State Capacity*. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/36694
- Diop, B. Z., Awoonor-Williams, K., Ofosu, A., & Williams, M. J. (2019). Understanding the Allocation of Public Personnel Across Government Health Facilities in Ghana. 30.
- Doherty, L., & Sayegh, A. (2022). *How to Design and Institutionalize Spending Reviews*. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Fiscal-Affairs-Department-Ho w-To-Notes/Issues/2022/09/20/How-to-Design-and-Institutionalize-Spending-Reviews-523364
- Dom, C., Fraser, A., & Mhina, E. (2021). Results-Based Financing (RBF) in the Education Sector: Country-Level Analysis: An Assessment of RBF in Education – Final Assessment Report: Tanzania [Text/HTML]. Mokoro for World Bank.

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/672351646056866028/An-Assessment-of-RBF-in-Education-Final-Assessment-Report-Tanzania

- Eble, A., Frost, C., Camara, A., Bouy, B., Bah, M., Sivaraman, M., Hsieh, P.-T. J., Jayanty, C., Brady, T., Gawron, P., Vansteelandt, S., Boone, P., & Elbourne, D. (2021). How much can we remedy very low learning levels in rural parts of low-income countries? Impact and generalizability of a multi-pronged para-teacher intervention from a cluster-randomized trial in the Gambia. *Journal of Development Economics*, 148, 102539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2020.102539
- Economist. (2020, December 19). Brazil faces hard spending choices in 2021. *The Economist.* https://www.economist.com/the-americas/2020/12/19/brazil-faces-h ard-spending-choices-in-2021
- Eddy-Spicer, D., Ehren, M., Bangpan, M., Khatwa, M., & Perrone, F. (2016). Under what conditions do inspection, monitoring and assessment improve system efficiency, service delivery and learning outcomes? Systematic Review [Systematic Review]. UCL Institute of Education. https://www.gov.uk/research-for-development-outputs/protocol-un der-what-conditions-do-inspection-monitoring-and-assessment-i mprove-system-efficiency-service-delivery-and-learning-outcomesfor-the-poorest-and-most-marginalised-a-realist-synthesis-of-scho ol-accountabili

- EdTech Hub. (n.d.). Education system management / EMIS / education data – EdTechTools. Retrieved 4 October 2022, from https://database.edtechhub.org/tool_focus/education-system-mana gement-emis-education-data/?post_types=tools
- EdTech Hub. (n.d.). *Results Rapid Scans The EdTech Hub* [Collection]. https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/?all=country+scan
- Elks, P. (2016). Lessons learned from-introducing value-added performance measures in Uganda [DFID Think Piece]. HEART. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/585a7c41e5274a13070 000ee/Lessons-learned-from-introducing-value-added-performanc e-measures-in-Uganda.pdf

Evans, D. K., & Loureiro, A. (2020). Getting Education Right: State and Municipal Success in Reform for Universal Literacy in Brazil [Text/HTML].
https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/444581593599662264/Getting-Education-Right-S tate-and-Municipal-Success-in-Reform-for-Universal-Literacy-in-Bra zil

- Evans, D. K., & Popova, A. (2016). What Really Works to Improve Learning in Developing Countries?: An Analysis of Divergent Findings in Systematic Reviews. *World Bank Research Observer*, *31*(2), 242–270. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkw004
- Fab Inc. (2021). Learning from experience: A post-Covid-19 data architecture for a resilient education data ecosystem in Sierra Leone. Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5498054
- Faguet, J.-P., & Pöschl, C. (2015). Is Decentralization Good for Development? In . *Is Decentralization Good for Development* (p. 25).
- Fazzio, I., Eble, A., Lumsdaine, R. L., Boone, P., Bouy, B., Hsieh, P.-T. J., Jayanty, C., Johnson, S., & Silva, A. F. (2021). Large Learning Gains in Pockets of Extreme Poverty: Experimental Evidence from Guinea Bissau. 81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2021.104385
- Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office. (2022). 2022 Annual Review of Education Beyond Aid project. https://devtracker.fcdo.gov.uk/projects/GB-GOV-1-300517/document s

- Gauthier, B. (2013). Making leakages visible: Public expenditure tracking in education. In *Global Corruption Report: Education*. Routledge.
- GAVI. (2018). DRC's solar revolution. https://www.gavi.org/vaccineswork/drcs-solar-revolution
- Githinji, I. (2021, December 7). State releases rules on learner capitation grants, school funds. *People Daily*. https://www.pd.co.ke/news/state-releases-rules-on-learner-capitatio n-grants-school-funds-105484/
- Glewwe, P. W., Hanushek, E. A., Humpage, S. D., & Ravina, R. (2011). School Resources and Educational Outcomes in Developing Countries: A Review of the Literature from 1990 to 2010 (Working Paper 17554; Working Paper Series). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w17554
- Government of Balochistan. (2021). 2021–2022 Budget Document Archives. https://balochistan.gov.pk/budget-categories/2021-2022/
- Government of Balochistan. (2022). Education Management Information System (EMIS). http://emis.gob.pk/website/CensusProfiles.aspx
- Government of Ghana. (2018). Education Sector Performance Report 2018.

https://www.globalpartnership.org/sites/default/files/document/file/ 2020-16-Ghana%20-%20ESP-IR.pdf

Government of Kenya. (2019). The County Allocation of Revenue Bill, 2019.

http://www.parliament.go.ke/sites/default/files/2019-04/THE%20CO UNTY%20ALLOCATION%20OF%20REVENUE%20BILL%202019%20C ombined%20%281%29.pdf

- Government of Kenya. (2023). Education Sector Budget Proposal Report 2023/24. Government of Kenya. https://www.treasury.go.ke/sector-budget-proposal-reports/
- Government of Pakistan. (1973). Article 160—Constitution 1973. https://www.finance.gov.pk/nfc_cons.html
- Government of Pakistan. (2020). Report on First Biannual Monitoring on the Implementation of National Finance Commission Award. https://www.finance.gov.pk/7_nfc.html

Government of Rwanda. (2020). Towards Integration of EMIS in Rwanda.

https://www.mineduc.gov.rw/fileadmin/user_upload/Mineduc/Publi cations/REPORTS/TOWARDS_INTEGRATION_OF_EMIS_IN_Rwanda. pdf

Government of Rwanda. (2022). *RwandaEQUIP*. RwandaEQUIP. https://rwandaequip.org.rw/

Government of Sierra Leone. (2022). *EMIS – MBSSE*. https://mbsse.gov.sl/emis/

Government of Sindh. (2019). ESSP Contract 2019: Example partnership contract. Government of Sindh. https://www.sef.org.pk/wp-content/uploads/2017/download_page/co ntract/ESSP%20Contract%202019.pdf

Government of South Sudan. (2022). South Sudan Schools: Ana Fii Inni. https://www.sssams.org/

Government of Tanzania. (2020). President's Office – Regional Administration and Local Government Fee Free Basic Education – Capitation Grants Disbursed to Secondary Schools 2019/2020. https://www.tamisemi.go.tz/storage/app/media/uploaded-files/seco ndaryschools-capitation-grants-2019-2020.pdf

Government of the Republic of South Africa. (2020). Part 2: Frameworks for Conditional Grants to Provinces: Detailed frameworks on Schedule 4, Part A; Schedule 5, Part A; Schedule 6, Part A; and Schedule 7, Part A grants to provinces. Government of the Republic of South Africa.

http://www.treasury.gov.za/documents/national%20budget/2020/Pa rt%202%20-%20Provincial%20conditional%20grant%20frameworks. pdf

Government of the Republic of South Africa. (2022). *Government Gazette*.

https://www.treasury.gov.za/documents/national%20budget/2022/2022%20DoRA%20section%2015(1)%20Gazette%20No.%2046649.pdf

Government of the State of Ceará. (n.d.). *Prêmio Escola Nota 10*. Retrieved 11 June 2022, from

https://idadecerta.seduc.ce.gov.br/index.php/o-paic/premio-escolanota-10

- Government of Uganda. (2023). *Fiscal Transfers: View Consolidated formulae*. OTIMS. https://otims.finance.go.ug/
- GPE. (2018). Ghana education sector analysis. 2018 | Documents | Global Partnership for Education. https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/ghana-education-sector -analysis-2018
- GPE. (2019). Meeting the data challenge in education. A knowledge and innovation exchange (KIX) discussion paper | Documents | Global Partnership for Education. GPE. https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/meeting-data-challeng e-education-knowledge-and-innovation-exchange-kix-discussion-p aper
- GPE. (2021). Methodological Guidelines for Education Sector Analysis. Volume 3 | Documents | Global Partnership for Education. https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/methodological-guidelines-education-sector-analysis-volume-3
- GPE and Education Data Solutions Roundtable. (2019). Outcomes of the Education Data Solutions Roundtable. https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/outcomes-education-da ta-solutions-roundtable

Grindle, M. (2004). Despite the Odds.

https://press.princeton.edu/books/paperback/9780691118000/despit e-the-odds

- Groeneveld, C., & Taddese, A. (2020). *EdTech in Tanzania: A Rapid Scan* (Country Scan 5). EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0039
- Hall, K., & Giese, S. (2009). Addressing quality through school fees and school funding. https://open.uct.ac.za/handle/11427/3988
- Hedger, E., Manning, N., & Schick, A. (2020a). *Advice, Money, Results.* NYU Wagner. https://wagner.nyu.edu/advice-money-results/about
- Hedger, E., Manning, N., & Schick, A. (2020b). Beyond Doctrine:
 Refocusing PFM for Vital Public Objectives. *PFM*.
 https://blog-pfm.imf.org/en/pfmblog/2020/07/beyond-doctrine-refocusing-pfm-for-vital-public-objectives

- Hedger, E., Schick, A., & Manning, N. (2020c). Problems and proposals summary: Advice, Money, Results [NYU]. https://wagner.nyu.edu/advice-money-results/problems-proposals-s ummary
- Hickey, S., & Hossain, N. (Eds.). (2019). The Politics of Education in Developing Countries: From Schooling to Learning. Oxford University Press.
- Hood, C., & Piotrowska, B. (2021). Goodhart's Law and the gaming of UK public spending numbers. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 44(2), 250–271. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2020.1749092
- Hua, H., & Herstein, J. (2003). Education Management Information System (EMIS): Integrated data and information systems and their implications *in educational management*. 26 pp.
- Hubbard, P. (2007). Putting the Power of Transparency in Context: Information's Role in Reducing Corruption in Uganda's Education Sector – Working Paper 136. *Center for Global Development | Ideas to Action*.

https://www.cgdev.org/publication/putting-power-transparency-context-informations-role-reducing-corruption-ugandas

idinsight. (2022). Data quality check for hierarchical linear data with outliers.

https://www.idinsight.org/article/data-quality-check-for-hierarchical -linear-data-with-outliers/

- IGC International Growth Centre. (n.d.). (*Mis)allocation of teachers* and state capacity. IGC. Retrieved 13 November 2022, from https://www.theigc.org/project/misallocation-teachers-state-capacit y/
- ILO. (2022). World Employment and Social Outlook | Trends 2022. 128.
- International Budget Partnership. (2022). Data Explorer | Open Budget Survey | International Budget Partnership. https://survey.internationalbudget.org/#download
- International Monetary Fund. (2017). *Digital Revolutions in Public Finance*.

https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Books/Issues/2018/04/02/Digit al-Revolutions-in-Public-Finance-44925

- Irving, M., & Percier, M.-A. (2019). What can we learn from EMIS diagnostics? | Blog | Global Partnership for Education. https://www.globalpartnership.org/blog/what-can-we-learn-emis-di agnostics
- Jensen, A. (2019). Employment Structure and the Rise of the Modern Tax System (Working Paper 25502). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w25502
- Kakar, R., Saleem, M., & Sarwar, B. (2022). The Political Economy of School Education in Post-18th Amendment Balochistan. https://rasta.pide.org.pk/wp-content/uploads/Governance-Public-Se rvice-Delivery_Rafiullah-Kakar_WP.pdf
- Kayabwe, S., & Elior, J. (2014). The Use and usefulness of school grants: Lessons from Uganda. UNESCO. https://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/publication/use-and-usefulness-sch ool-grants-lessons-uganda
- Kelil, K., Jebena, D., Dufera, D., Abdi, K., & Wolde, S. (2014). The Use and usefulness of school grants: Lessons from Ethiopia. UNESCO. https://www.iiep.unesco.org/fr/publication/use-and-usefulness-scho ol-grants-lessons-ethiopia
- Kerwin, J. T., & Thornton, R. L. (2021). Making the grade: The sensitivity of education program effectiveness to input choices and outcome measures. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 103(2), 251–264. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_00911
- Khan, A. Q., Khwaja, A. I., & Olken, B. A. (2021). *Tax Farming Redux: Experimental Evidence on Performance Pay for Tax Collectors* (Working Paper 20627). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w20627
- Kimenyi, E., Chuang, R., & Taddese, A. (2020). *EdTech in Rwanda: A Rapid Scan*. EdTech Hub.
- Kingdon, G. G., Little, A., Aslam, M., Rawal, S., Moe, T., Patrinos, H., Beteille, T., Banerji, R., Parton, B., & Sharma, S. K. (2014). *A rigorous review of the political economy of education systems in developing countries*. 84. http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Default.aspx?tabid=3451

- Koomar, S., & Blest, H. (2020). Using EdTech to Support Effective Data Monitoring: A Curated Resource List. EdTech Hub.
- Lautharte, I., de Oliveira, V. H., & Loureiro, A. (2021). *Incentives for Mayors to Improve Learning: Evidence from State Reforms in Ceará, Brazil* [Working Paper]. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-9509
- Leckie, G., & Goldstein, H. (2017). The evolution of school league tables in England 1992–2016: 'Contextual value-added', 'expected progress' and 'progress 8'. *British Educational Research Journal*, *43*(2), 193–212. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3264
- Lee, J., & Medina, O. (2019). Learning from What Works: RBF in Education. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/3125 0/133932-WP-PUBLIC-21-1-2019-7-58-55-WBGLearningfromWhatWo rksFinalclean.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Levy, B., Cameron, R., Hoadley, U., & Naidoo, V. (Eds.). (2018). The Politics and Governance of Basic Education: A Tale of Two South African Provinces. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198824053.001.0001
- Long, C., Fraser, A., Mbate, M., & Lacroix, A. (2021, August 24). Intergovernmental fiscal transfers, equity and service delivery: Lessons from Uganda. ODI: Think Change. https://odi.org/en/publications/intergovernmental-fiscal-transfers-e quity-and-service-delivery-lessons-from-uganda/
- Long, C., & Welham, B. (2016). Organising a strategic phase in the budget process. https://odi.org/en/publications/organising-a-strategic-phase-in-thebudget-process/
- Loosemore, T. (2019). *Making government as a platform real* [Public Digital].

https://public.digital/2018/09/25/making-government-as-a-platform -real

Loureiro, A., & Cruz, L. (2020). Achieving World-Class Education in Adverse Socioeconomic Conditions: The Case of Sobral in Brazil. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/34150

- Loureiro, A., Cruz, L., Lautharte, I., & Evans, D. K. (2020). *The State of Ceara in Brazil is a Role Model for Reducing Learning Poverty*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/34156
- Marfo, N. M. (2022, September 25). What is Capitation Grant for Basic Schools in Ghana? *Coverghana.Com.Gh.* https://coverghana.com.gh/what-is-capitation-grant-for-basic-scho ols-in-ghana/
- Mbiti, I., Muralidharan, K., Romero, M., Schipper, Y., Manda, C., & Rajani, R. (2018). *Inputs, Incentives, and Complementarities in Education: Experimental Evidence from Tanzania* (Working Paper 24876; Working Paper Series). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w24876
- McBurnie, C., & Beoku-Betts, I. (2021a). *Mapping the education data ecosystem in Sierra Leone* [Working Paper]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0068
- McBurnie, C., Beoku-Betts, I., Waistell, D., & Nallo, M. (2021b). Advancing Data-Driven Decision-Making for School Improvement: Findings from the One Tablet Per School User Testing Programme in Sierra Leone [Working paper]. MBSSE, EdTech Hub, Leh Wi Lan. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0066
- McBurnie, C., Godwin, K., Bernard-Jones, L., Haßler, B., & Haßler, C. M., (2022, May 13). When teachers are asked to deploy other teachers, we learn a lot about teacher preferences. *EdTech Hub*. https://edtechhub.org/2022/05/13/when-teachers-are-asked-to-depl oy-other-teachers-we-learn-a-lot-about-teacher-preferences/
- Mello, U., Loureiro, A., & Cruz, L. (2021). *Brazil Case Study*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1693-2
- Midgley, H. (2016). Payment by results in nineteenth-century British education: A study in how priorities change. *Journal of Policy History*, 28(4), 680–706. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0898030616000300
- Ministry of Finance. (2021). 2020 Annual Report on the Petroleum Funds | Ministry of Finance | Ghana. https://mofep.gov.gh/publications/petroleum-reports/2020-annual-r eport

- Moss, C. (2020, January 22). 18 large-scale EdTech initiatives on our radar in 2020. *EdTech Hub*. https://edtechhub.org/2020/01/22/18-large-scale-edtech-initiatives-o n-our-radar-in-2020/
- Moynihan, D., & Beazley, I. (2016). Toward next-generation performance budgeting: Lessons from the experiences of seven reforming countries [Text/HTML].

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/356081478497402740/Toward-next-generation-p erformance-budgeting-lessons-from-the-experiences-of-seven-refo rming-countries

- Muchunguh, D. (2021, April). Kenya: How Rogue Officials Inflated Enrolment, Used Ghost Schools to Steal Billions [Newspaper]. *The Nation in Allafrica.Com*. https://allafrica.com/stories/202104060258.html
- Mullan, J., & Taddese, A. (2020). *EdTech in Sierra Leone: A Rapid Scan* (Country Scan 3). EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0038
- Mwangi, L. (2013). Special Needs Education (SNE) in Kenyan public primary schools: Exploring government policy and teachers' understandings. 454.
- National Audit Office UK. (2011). Assessing value for money. https://www.nao.org.uk/successful-commissioning/general-principl es/value-for-money/assessing-value-for-money/
- National Treasury of the Republic of South Africa. (2022). Annexure W1 Explanatory memorandum to the division of revenue. http://www.treasury.gov.za/documents/national%20budget/2022/rev iew/Annexure%20W1.pdf
- Nicolai, S., & Hassler, B. (2020, October). EdTech's three promising approaches to #SaveOurFuture https://edtechhub.org/2020/10/29/edtech-three-promising-approac hes-to-saveourfuture/
- Ninh, L. K. (2020). Economic role of education in agriculture: Evidence from rural Vietnam. *Journal of Economics and Development*, 23(1), 47–58. https://doi.org/10.1108/JED-05-2020-0052

- Nixon, H. A. D., Menocal, A. R., Bhattacharya, D., Fuad, S. M., Hassan, I., Iwuamadi, K. C., Rezbana, U. S., & Yusuf, S. (2018). *Local governance, decentralisation and corruption in Bangladesh and Nigeria.* 44.
- OECD. (2017). The funding of school education: Main findings and policy pointers. In *The Funding of School Education: Connecting Resources and Learning*. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264276147-4-en
- Ombui, S. C. (2013). Challenges facing principals in Integrating Information Communication Technology (ICT) for efficient management in secondary schools In Nyamira County, Kenya [Thesis]. https://ir-library.ku.ac.ke/handle/123456789/7267
- OpenEMIS. (2022). OpenEMIS Better data. Better education. https://www.openemis.org/
- Osei, E. (2017). Fiscal Decentralization in Ghana: Progress and Challenges (Occasional Paper 10). Institute for Fiscal Studies Ghana. http://ifsghana.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Occasional-10-.pdf
- Our World in Data. (2022). GDP per capita in England. *Our World in Data*. https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/GDP-per-capita-in-the-uk-since -1270
- Oye, M., Pritchett, L., & Sandefur, J. (2016). *Girls' Schooling is Good, Girls' Schooling with Learning is Better* (Learning Generation) [Background Paper]. Education Commission. http://report.educationcommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01 /Girls-Schooling-is-Good-Girls-Schooling-with-Learning-is-Better.pd f
- Parliament of Ghana. (2020). 2020 Formula for sharing the DACF. 2020. Government of the Republic of Ghana.

http://ir.parliament.gh/bitstream/handle/123456789/1642/2020_03_1 8_09_41_18.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Parliament of Kenya. (2020). Report of the Standing Committee on Finance and Budget on the Third Basis for allocating among the counties the share of national revenue.

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/s3.sourceafrica.net/documents /120047/Report-of-the-Standing-Committee-Finance-on-the.pdf Pettersson, G., Rawle, G., Outhred, R., Brockerhoff, S., Nugroho, D., Kveder, A., Beavis, A., Ruddle, N., Jasper, P., & Wills, G. (2017). EQUIP-Tanzania Impact Evaluation. Final Baseline Technical Report, Volume I: Results and Discussion (p. 174). Oxford Policy Management.

https://www.opml.co.uk/files/Publications/8383-assessing-equip-t/b aseline-impact-evaluation-vol.1.pdf?noredirect=1

- Policy, Planning, Research and Communication Division, Government of Papua New Guinea. (2012). *Report on the Implementation of the Tuition Fee Free (TFF) Report.* https://www.education.gov.pg/documents/TFF%20Policy%20Report .pdf
- Pope, R. (2019). *Playbook: Government as Platform*. https://ash.harvard.edu/publications/playbook-government-platfor m
- Powell, M. (2006). Rethinking Education Management Information Systems: Lessons from and Options for Less Developed Countries. https://www.infodev.org/articles/rethinking-education-managemen t-information-systems-lessons-and-options-less-developed
- Pritchett, L. (2015). Creating Education Systems Coherent for Learning Outcomes: Making the Transition from Schooling to Learning (Research on Improving Systems of Education, p. 47). Rise Programme.

https://www.riseprogramme.org/sites/www.riseprogramme.org/files /inline-files/RISE_WP-005_Pritchett_1.pdf

- Pritchett, L. (2018). The Risks of Dangerous Dashboards in Basic Education [Center for Global Development]. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/risks-dangerous-dashboards-inbasic-education
- Pritchett, L. (2022). National development delivers: And how! And how? *Economic Modelling*, *107*, 105717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2021.105717
- Pritchett, L., Andrews, M., & Woolcock, M. (2017). *Building State Capability: Evidence, Analysis, Action.* https://bsc.cid.harvard.edu/building-state-capability-evidence-analy sis-action

- Punjab Education Foundation. (none). *Welcome To PEF Foundation Assisted Schools*. http://www.pef.edu.pk/fas/index.aspx
- Quetta Voice. (2020, February 8). Ghost schools can be traced through RTMS in Balochistan. *Quetta Voice Breaking News, English News, Technology, Health.*

https://www.quettavoice.com/2020/02/08/ghost-schools-can-be-tra ced-through-rtms-in-balochistan/

- Raudla, R., Douglas, J. W., & MacCarthaigh, M. (2022). Medium-term expenditure frameworks: Credible instrument or mirage? *Public Budgeting & Finance*. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbaf.12316
- Reinikka, R., & Svensson, J. (2004). Local capture: Evidence from a Central Government Transfer Program in Uganda. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *11*9(2), 679–705. https://doi.org/10.1162/0033553041382120
- Republic of South Africa. (2022a). ASIDI Accelerated School Infrastructure Delivery Initiative. https://www.education.gov.za/Programmes/ASIDI.aspx
- Republic of South Africa. (2022b). DBE's National School Nutrition Programme. https://www.education.gov.za/Programmes/NationalSchoolNutritio nProgramme.aspx
- RISE. (2023, February 2). The RISE Education Systems Diagnostic: A Tool for Identifying Strategic Priorities for Education System Reform. RISE Programme. https://riseprogramme.org/events/rise-education-systems-diagnosti c-tool-identifying-strategic-priorities-education-system
- Robinson, M. (2022). Unit Cost Budgeting? (1/4) Marc Robinson Blog. https://blog.pfmresults.com/unit-cost-budgeting-1-4/
- Rockefeller Foundation. (2021). Co-Develop: Digital Public Infrastructure for an Equitable Recovery. *The Rockefeller Foundation*. https://www.rockefellerfoundation.org/report/co-develop-digital-pu blic-infrastructure-for-an-equitable-recovery/
- Rodd, A. (2018). *Tsome Pamoja Tanzania* (p. 2). USAID. https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd =&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAIQw7AJahcKEwiQjKn7Ip6AAxUAAAAA

HQAAAAAQAg&url=https%3A%2F%2F2017-2020.usaid.gov%2Fsites %2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Fdocuments%2F1860%2F2018-10-29_Tusome _Pamoja.pdf&psig=AOvVaw2-MQh7idbYWsvzSsG4aGji&ust=1689973 146684751&opi=89978449

Ross, K. N., Levačić, R., & International Institute for Educational Planning (Eds.). (1999). *Needs-based resource allocation in education: Via formula funding of schools*. UNESCO, International Institute for Educational Planning.

https://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/publication/needs-based-resource-a llocation-education-formula-funding-schools

- Rossiter, J. (2020). *Link It, Open It, Use It: Changing How Education Data Are Used to Generate Ideas* (Note, p. 17) [Note]. Center for Global Development.
- Rossiter, J., Abreh, M. K., Ali, A., & Sandefur, J. (2021). *Do High-Stakes Exams Promote Consistent Educational Standards*? (Working Paper 581; Working Papers). Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/do-high-stakes-exams-promoteconsistent-educational-standards
- Roy, P., & Khan, M. H. (2021). Digitizing taxation and premature formalization in developing countries. *Development and Change*, *52*(4), 855–877. https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12662
- Sabarwal, S., Kacker, K., & Habyarimana, J. (2018). *Better Than Most: Teacher Beliefs about Effort and Ability in Uganda* [Working Paper]. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-8440
- Samb, O. M., Essombe, C., & Ridde, V. (2020). Meeting the challenges posed by per diem in development projects in southern countries: A scoping review. *Globalization and Health*, *1*6(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00571-6
- Sancho-Gil, J. M., Rivera-Vargas, P., & Miño-Puigcercós, R. (2020). Moving beyond the predictable failure of Ed-Tech initiatives. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 45(1), 61–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2019.1666873
- Sandefur, J. (2022). Schooling for All: Feasible Strategies to Achieve Universal Education. Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/schooling-all-feasible-strategiesachieve-universal-education

- Sandefur, J., & Glassman, A. (2015). The political economy of bad data: Evidence from African survey and administrative statistics. *The Journal of Development Studies*, *51*(2), 116–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2014.968138
- Sandefur, J., Le Nestour, A., & Moscoviz, L. (2022). The Long-Run Decline of Education Quality in the Developing World | Center for Global Development | Ideas to Action. Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/long-run-decline-education-qua lity-developing-world

Schick, A. (1998). A contemporary approach to public expenditure management [Text/HTML]. https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/739061468323718599/A-contemporary-approachto-public-expenditure-management

Schipper, Y., & Pradhan. (2022). *RBF Interventions in Education: Do they Increase Inequality of Outcomes?: A Literature Review* [Text/HTML]. World Bank.

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/377471645773575827/A-Literature-Review

Scottish Government. (2021). Pupil Census 2021.

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publicati ons/statistics/2019/07/pupil-census-supplementary-tables/documen ts/pupil-census-2021-supplementary-statistics/pupil-census-2021-su pplementary-statistics/govscot%3Adocument/Pupils%2BCensus%2 BSupplementary%2BStatistics%2B2021%2BV2.xlsxc

Scottish Government. (2022). Scottish Local Government Finance 'Green Book' 2022–23.

http://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-local-government-financ e-green-book-2022-23/

- Sen, K., Bukenya, B., & Hickey, S. (2014). *The Politics of Inclusive Development*. Oxford University Press. https://global.oup.com/academic/product/the-politics-of-inclusive-d evelopment-9780198722564?cc=gb&lang=en&
- Sharma, A., Gustafsson-Wright, E., & Osbourne, S. (2021, May 6). How can real-time performance data lead to better education outcomes? *Brookings*.

https://www.brookings.edu/blog/education-plus-development/2021/

05/06/how-can-real-time-performance-data-lead-to-better-educati on-outcomes/

- Shukia, R. (2020). Fee-free basic education policy implementation in Tanzania: A 'phenomenon' worth rethinking. *Huria: Journal of the Open University of Tanzania*, 27(1), Article 1. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/huria/article/view/204346
- Sindh Education Foundation. (2022). Schools Data Sindh Education Foundation. https://www.sef.org.pk/schools-data/

Sobhy. (2019). Expensive Classrooms, Poor Learning: The Imperatives of Reforming School Construction in Egypt. Alternative Policy Solutions. https://pure.mpg.de/rest/items/item_3219461/component/file_32194 62/content

- Sparkes, J. (2021). Strengthening Education Management Information Systems (EMIS) and Data for Increased Resilience to Crisis: Country case study: Uganda—UNESCO Digital Library. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000375816?posInSet=4&q ueryId=e42c738a-ce84-4fa7-ba4a-dea123e05842
- Spaull, N., Lilenstein, A., & Carel, D. (2020). The Race between Teacher Wages and the Budget. *Research on Socioeconomic Policy* (*RESEP*) Stellenbosch University.
- Steer, L., Rabbani, F., & Parker, A. (2014). *Primary Education Finance for Equity and Quality* (p. 104). Brookings.
- Subosa, M., & West, M. (2018). Re-orienting Education Management Information Systems (EMIS) towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning. UNESCO. https://www.openemis.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/UNESCO_R e-orienting_Education_Management_Information_Systems_EMIS_t owards_inclusive_and_equitable_quality_education_and_lifelong_le arning_2018_en.pdf
- Taddese, A. (2020). *EdTech in Ghana: A Rapid Scan*. EdTech Hub. Available at https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/4TKSDH2I
- Tidemand, P. (2018). Situational Analysis: UNICEF Tanzania Decentralization and Local Governance Support Strategy (Mainland and Zanzibar). UNICEF.

https://www.unicef.org/tanzania/media/1491/file/DeLOG-Assessment -Stocktake.pdf

Tilley, H., Williamson, T., Long, C., Sola, N., Maziku, A., & Tobias, J. (2014). Local Government Authority (LGA) fiscal inequities and the challenges of 'disadvantaged' LGAs in Tanzania. https://odi.org/en/publications/local-government-authority-lga-fisca l-inequities-and-the-challenges-of-disadvantaged-lgas-in-tanzania/

Trucano, M. (n.d.). 10 principles to consider when introducing ICTs into remote, low-income educational environments. Retrieved 21 December 2022, from https://blogs.worldbank.org/edutech/10-principles-consider-when-i ntroducing-icts-remote-low-income-educational-environments

- UK Department for Education. (2021). *The National Funding Formulae for schools and high needs* — 2022–23. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system /uploads/attachment_data/file/1003492/2022-23_NFF_Policy_Docu ment.pdf
- UK Government. (2021). School workforce in England, Reporting Year 2020.

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/sch ool-workforce-in-england

UK Government. (2022a). The Green Book: Appraisal and evaluation in central government.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appr aisal-and-evaluation-in-central-governent

UK Government. (2022b). Complete the school census. Census dates. Guidance.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complete-the-school-census/censusdates

UK Government. (2022c). School census 2022 to 2023: Technical information. GOV.UK.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-census-2022-t o-2023-technical-information

UNESCO. (2008). Education for All by 2015: Will we make it? EFA global monitoring report, 2008. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000154743 UNESCO. (2021a). The integration of Education Management Information Systems (EMIS) with other information systems. UNESCO.

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000380046_eng

UNESCO. (2021b, May 26). Re-imagining the future education management information systems, beyond head counts: Leveraging data systems to support inclusive and effective learning for all.

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000378048

- UNESCO. (n.d.). UIS Data. September 2022 version. https://apiportal.uis.unesco.org/bdds. <u>Retrieved October 2023</u>
- UNESCO. (2023). SDG 4 data. September 2023 version. http://sdg4-data.uis.unesco.org/<u>Retrieved September 2023</u>
- UNICEF. (2022). *MICS Survey*. https://mics.unicef.org/surveys . Surveys used in primary repeater Table 1 data: Algeria (2018/19), Argentina (2019/2020), Central African Republic (2018/2019), Costa Rica (2018), Democratic Republic of Congo (2017/18), Dominican Republic (2019), Fiji (2021), The Gambia (2018), Ghana (2017/2018), Honduras (2019), Kiribati (2018/2019), Lao PDR (2017), Lesotho (2018), Madagascar (2018), Mongolia (2018), Nepal (2019), Sierra Leone (2017), Sao Tome and Principe (2019), State of Palestine or West Bank and Gaza (2019/2020), Suriname (2018), Togo (2017), Tonga (2019), Tunisia (2018), Tuvalu (2019/20), Uzbekistan (2021/2022), Vietnam (2020/2021), Zimbabwe (2019).
- Universalia. (2020). Summative Evaluation of GPE's Country-Level Support to Education: Bangladesh (p. 194).
- USAID. (n.d.). *STATcompiler: The DHS Program*: Gross attendance ratio (primary). Retrieved 15 May 2022, from https://www.statcompiler.com/en/
- USAID. (2016). Education Data for Decision Making (EDDATA II): Key achievements and lessons learned: Final report. USAID. https://www.globalreadingnetwork.net/sites/default/files/media/file/ Core%20Final%20Report_16Dec2016_0.pdf
- van Wyk, C., & Crouch, L. (2020). Efficiency and Effectiveness in Choosing and Using an EMIS. UNESCO. https://tcg.uis.unesco.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2020/09/EMIS -Buyers-Guide-EN-fin-WEB.pdf

- Vian, T., & Sabin, L. (2012). *Per diem policy analysis toolkit.* https://www.gov.uk/research-for-development-outputs/per-diem-p olicy-analysis-toolkit
- Vivalt, E. (2020). How much can we generalize from impact evaluations? *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 18(6), 3045–3089. https://doi.org/10.1093/jeea/jvaa019
- Wagner, D. A., Nathan, M. C., & Lewis, S. G. (2022). *Learning,* Marginalization, and Improving the Quality of Education in Low-income Countries. https://doi.org/10.11647/OBP.0256
- Wako, T. N. (2003). Education Management Information Systems (EMIS): A guide for young managers. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000220621
- Walker, T. (2016). What we're learning about how organisations select ICT tools. *Making All Voices Count*. https://www.makingallvoicescount.org/blog/learning-organizationsselect-ict-tools/
- Walter, T. F. (n.d.). State Management of Education Systems and Educational Performance. 24.
- Walter, T. F. (2020). Misallocation in the Public Sector? Cross-Country Evidence from Two Million Primary Schools, (70; STICERD — Economic Organisation and Public Policy Discussion Papers Series). Suntory and Toyota International Centres for Economics and Related Disciplines, LSE. https://ideas.repec.org/p/cep/stieop/70.html
- Weatherholt, T., Jordan, R., Crouch, L., Barnett, E., & Pressley, J. (2019).
 Challenge and srivers of over-Enrollment in the early years of primary school in Uganda. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 57(1), 23–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13158-019-00238-3
- Welham, B., Hart, T., Mustapha, S., & Hadley, S. (2017). Public financial management and health service delivery: Necessary, but not sufficient? 56 pp.

https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/Public_financial_managemen t_and_health_service_delivery_necessary_but_not_sufficient.pdf

Williams, M. (2017). Unfinished development projects in Ghana: Mechanising collective choice. *Voxdev*. https://voxdev.org/topic/infrastructure-urbanisation/unfinished-dev elopment-projects-ghana-mechanising-collective-choice

Williams, M. (2020, February 25). Do civil service performance incentives work: Evidence from Ghana and Zambia. *International Growth Centre*.

https://www.theigc.org/blogs/do-civil-service-performance-incentiv es-work-evidence-ghana-and-zambia

World Bank. (2013). Service delivery with more districts in Uganda: Fiscal challenges and opportunities for reforms: Public expenditure review [Text/HTML]. World Bank.

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/558891468113066344/Service-delivery-with-moredistricts-in-Uganda-fiscal-challenges-and-opportunities-for-reform s-public-expenditure-review

World Bank. (2014). SABER EMIS Questionnaire. World Bank. http://wbgfiles.worldbank.org/documents/hdn/ed/saber/supporting _doc/Background/EMIS/SABER_EMIS_Questionnaire_092414.pdf

World Bank. (2016a). World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends [Text/HTML]. https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2016

World Bank. (2016b). Systems Approach for Better Education Results (SABER) [Text/HTML]. *World Bank*.

https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/education/brief/systems-appro ach-for-better-education-results-saberWorld Bank. (2017a). *Fiscal Consolidation to Accelerate Growth and Support Inclusive Development: Ghana Public Expenditure Review*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/27558

World Bank. (2017b). *Sindh Public Expenditure Review*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/29264

World Bank. (2017c). World Development Report 2017: Governance and the Law [Text/HTML]. World Bank. https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2017

World Bank. (2018). Balochistan: Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) Performance Assessment Report [Text/HTML]. https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/794111540553782391/Balochistan-Public-Expendit ure-and-Financial-Accountability-PEFA-Performance-Assessment-Report

World Bank. (2020a). Cost-Effective Approaches to Improve Global Learning. *World Bank*.

https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/teachingandlearning/publicati on/cost-effective-approaches-to-improve-global-learning

World Bank. (2020b). Cost-Effective Approaches to Improve Global Learning: What does recent evidence tell us are "Smart Buys" for improving learning in low- and middle-income countries? World Bank.

https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/719211603835247448/ pdf/Cost-Effective-Approaches-to-Improve-Global-Learning-What-Does-Recent-Evidence-Tell-Us-Are-Smart-Buys-for-Improving-Lear ning-in-Low-and-Middle-Income-Countries.pdf

World Bank. (2020c). Implementing a Results-Based Financing Mechanism for Subnational Governments to Improve Education Outcomes: An Implementation Guide Inspired by the Case of Ceara, Brazil [Text/HTML].

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/561471606111232725/Implementing-a-Results-Bas ed-Financing-Mechanism-for-Subnational-Governments-to-Improv e-Education-Outcomes-An-Implementation-Guide-Inspired-by-the -Case-of-Ceara-Brazil

- World Bank. (2020d). Kenya Public Expenditure Review 2020: Options for Fiscal Consolidation after the COVID-19 Crisis. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/34052
- World Bank. (2021a). Eswatini Education Sector Analysis 2021. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35787
- World Bank. (2021b). Sierra Leone Public Expenditure Review 2021: Fiscal Policy for a Sustainable Recovery. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35857
- World Bank. (2022a). *Global Economic Prospects* [Text/HTML]. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/3651 9/9781464817601.pdf

- World Bank. (2022b). SABER dataset. World Bank. https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/49ff5fd6d9c3bc72ac08bfa5e8 eb80f0-0200022021/original/SABER-RUBRICS-Jung-Hwan-Choi.xlsx
- World Bank. (2022c). *The State of Global Learning Poverty: 2022 Update*. World Bank.

https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/education/publication/state-ofglobal-learning-poverty

World Bank. (2023). South Africa Public Expenditure and Institutional Review for Early Childhood Development. https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-report s/documentdetail/099192001242341964/P1756791e5e59bde1ad6714d 311b6261dd284d0e6d65

Annex 1 Vertical resource allocation

Country	How resources are allocated between levels of government
Bangladesh	Spending on education is set by the central government (*Bhatta et al., 2019). Spending on primary and secondary education is largely deconcentrated rather than decentralised (*Nixon et al., 2018), with a significant share of non-state delivery.
Brazil	There are several streams of education funding (Mello et al., 2021). Brazil makes a regularly revised constitutional commitment to the level, allocation criteria and share of the federal contribution towards a major education fund. The federal government contributes revenues alongside municipalities and states into a shared fund, and provides an additional basic grant for education. States and municipalities have an overlapping mandate on upper secondary education. Municipalities provide the earlier stages. Unlike the other countries in this table, municipal- and state-raised revenues are each roughly as large as federal revenues. Similarly to Pakistan, Brazil has a non-reduction clause for some education financing streams in its constitution.
	Brazil faces significant challenges due to the lack of flexibility in terms of its public expenditures year-to-year, which follows from arguable overuse of the constitution to determine budget allocations (*Economist, 2020) which are procyclical (*Mello et al., 2021).

Country	How resources are allocated between levels of government
Ghana	The central government and the oil fund are the main source of education funding. The District Assemblies Common Fund, some of which is spent on education construction (*Williams, 2017), gets a set percentage of national revenue. Capitation grants to schools are set and sent by the central government (*World Bank, 2017). The national budget sets allocations for each school.
Kenya	Constitutional floor (a share of total revenues) for the equitable share, which covers several services, including pre-primary education. Primary and secondary education is deconcentrated rather than decentralised. Capitation grants to schools are set by and sent from the central government.
Pakistan	Under the constitution, a fiscal commission recommends a share of federal revenues to be allocated to states, which provide pre-tertiary education. The share to states cannot be reduced during the award period (which varies, currently 13 years). The president has a veto on the share for other purposes, but in reality a modest amount is deducted. The central government provides tertiary and some non-formal education. Provinces distribute resources among districts and set formulae for schools in some provinces.
UK	Negotiated, but with substantial central government influence over the overall vertical allocation. In recent years, England has decided to pass more resources directly to schools and not via local councils.

Country	How resources are allocated between levels of government
Sierra Leone	The Local Government Act 2004 <i>de jure</i> protects local government grants for education with the proviso that resources must rise in line with inflation. Councils have the mandate to provide education up to the lower secondary level. Capitation grants to schools are listed in the national government budget.
South Africa	"Cooperative" government model. A large, pro-poor multi-sector grant, the "equitable share", forms the basis of the cooperative model. Education is an area of "shared competence", where the provinces lead delivery for pre-tertiary education. De facto, the National Treasury and civil service unions reportedly play the two most influential roles over budget allocation to the sector (*Levy et al., 2018). Below provinces, municipalities receive multi-sector funding from the central government and discretionary resources from provinces, a small share of which is spent on early childhood development (ECD) construction (*World Bank, 2023).
	Under the constitution, functions cannot be assigned to subnational governments without equitable financing. However, recent years have seen substantial nationally determined teacher salary increases, which arguably have not been fully funded by the national government (*Spaull et al., 2020).

Country	How resources are allocated between levels of government
Tanzania	Increasingly centralised decisions, with almost total fiscal discretion at the centre (†Tidemand, 2018) and unreliable grant execution (†Tilley et al., 2014). Local governments deliver pre-tertiary education. Capitation grants to schools are set and sent by the central government Ministry of Finance, with the oversight of the President's Office. In recent years, the share of the education budget has increased for secondary and post-secondary, where access has expanded, and also for tertiary, while decreasing for primary (†Dom et al., 2021).
Uganda	Central government discretion de facto, de jure expenditure decentralisation but few vertical legal protections for spending, none of which apply to education grants. Minimum capitation grants to schools are set by the central government (*Long et al., 2021) but sent by local governments with an elaborate validation or "warrant" procedure overseen at the Ministry of Finance. In recent years, the government has increased the share of the sector budget to tertiary and halved the share of GDP to education overall (*Al-Samarrai & Lewis, 2021).

Annex 2 EMIS data in horizontal resource allocation

Data	Requirement for horizontal allocation decisions
Enrolment	Specific amounts per student are a common component of most funding formulae. Funds transferred to schools are often referred to as capitation grants due to this per capita criterion.
Schools	Specific amounts per school are also a common component of capitation grants. The pupil-to-school ratio may be a factor in determining capital expenditure allocations for school construction.
Enrolment by grade	Specific amounts per student can be higher for higher grades or exam years. Funding formulae may reward schools more for sustaining enrolment at progression and transition 'pain points'.
Teachers	The teacher count is the main factor in determining salary expenditure allocations. The on-payroll student-teacher ratio might also play a role in determining allocations for additional and school-employed staff.
School characteristics	Specific amounts per school for capitation grants are often higher if the school is in a remote location. Pupil deprivation identified at the school or community level can also lead to additional awards.

Data	Requirement for horizontal allocation decisions
	The pupil-to-classroom ratio (or other measures of a school's endowment or physical infrastructure and its condition) may be a factor in determining capital expenditure allocations for classroom construction (or rehabilitation).
Enrolment by student characteristics	Additional amounts may be allocated for pupils from deprived socio-economic backgrounds and for pupils with special needs.
Teacher characteristics	Information on the qualifications, experience, and performance of teachers may be a factor in determining how they are deployed across and within subnational governments.
Performance data, including learning assessments (high- and low-stakes)	Based on learning assessments and examinations, governments may award more or fewer resources to subnational governments with better assessed results. It is possible to adjust awards for learning gains based on assessment scores prior to and during the school stage (*Elks, 2016).

Annex 3 Variables used for horizontal resource allocation

In the table below, the first level of grants, from national to subnational governments, is the only level shown, except where subnational delegation is particularly extensive (i.e., for Brazil and Pakistan).

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Bangladesh ⁵⁸	•	
Note on all sector funding: Services in Bangladesh are larg than relying on fiscal decentralisation. A small share of scho governments (†Bhatta et al., 2019). Resource distribution ha (†Bhatta et al., 2019). No data is available on formula-based shares to deconcent possible reforms to introduce formulas, but this desk review implementation. A 2018 Public Expenditure Review docum the allocation mechanism.	ools are funded by as improved at the rated units. *Steer e w is unable to confi	subnational subnational level et al. (2014) outline rm their
Brazil ⁵⁹		
Note: In Brazil, Ceará State incentivises a balanced approac by often multiplying rather than solely adding formula con several Grade 5 assessment thresholds to mitigate strategie on X it also must also do well on Y to maximise its resource per learner funding. Ceará state distribution to municipalities	nponents, as is typi c exclusion. So if a r	cal, and included municipality does well
State literacy and numeracy rates for fifth graders: municipal average share of children exceeding thresholds, and year-to-year change. The formula includes the share of students below-threshold, partially and satisfactorily literate/numerate. A similar formula is based on municipal <i>average</i> test scores, also mediated by thresholds to encourage fairness.	Independent think tank calculations using state-run assessment	Bi-annual learning assessment (second round assessed, first round is advisory / diagnostic).
Candidature rate for the fifth-grade assessments		School census
Capitation grants to schools		
Awards to teachers and schools with best performance, partly conditional on knowledge exchange with, and support to, the lowest-performing schools.	-	-
Federal schools receive resources for meals from the national government	National EMIS [assumed]	Annual [assumed]
Ghana ⁶⁰		
The District Assemblies Common Fund		
Number of health facilities Health professionals / population Pupil-to-qualified teacher ratio Number of schools	Not listed Not listed Not listed Not listed Not listed	- - - -

⁵⁸ Sources for Bangladesh: [†]Steer et al. (2014);[†]Nixon et al. (2018); [†]Bhatta et al. (2019).

⁵⁹ Sources for Brazil: †Evans & Loureiro (2020); †Loureiro & Cruz (2020); †Loureiro et al. (2020); †World Bank (2020); †Lautharte et al. (2021); †Mello et al. (2021); †da Silva et al. (2022)

⁶⁰ Sources for Ghana: †Osei (2017); †World Bank (2017); †Parliament of Ghana (2020); †Ministry of Finance (2021)

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Share of the population with access to clean drinking		
water	Not listed	-
Tarred road coverage	Not listed	_
Per local government amount	Opaque	_
Service pressure factor		
Oil fund transfers		
Ad hoc: around one-third of the allocation used to fund re education sector (*Ministry of Finance, 2021). It was not possible to discern an allocation formula from capitation grant element for senior high schools.		
Kenya ⁶¹		
County equitable share Note: Counties fund pre-primary education. In general, th or a confirmation of whether the Commission for Revenu actually applied, makes it difficult to check whether alloca Included below are parliamentary and committee recom indicators should be, rather than the indicators themselve	e Allocation's (CRA) ation practices are fo mendations on wha	recommendations are ollowed or not.
Ad hoc: 2019/20 allocation used as a minimum per county and as the basis for half of the 2020/21 equitable share.	2019/20 budget	-
Population	Census	Every ten years
Health index (Committee recommendation: "health facility gap", three years average outpatient visits to level 2 and 3 facilities; in-patient visits to levels 4 and 5)	Opaque	-
Agricultural index (Committee recommendation: number of rural households based on 2019 census)	Opaque	-
Urban services (Committee recommendation: urban household count based on census)	Opaque	-
Per county amount	Opaque	-
Land Area (CRA and report recommendation: square root of land area. Committee also mentions a rurality measure based on the location of the headquarters, but it is unclear as to how this interacts with the other measure.	Opaque	If county boundaries are redrawn
Rural access index (CRA report recommended: proportion of rural population that can access an all-weather road within two kilometres)	Opaque	
Poverty (Committee-recommended: headcount from household survey)	Opaque	Irregular, Committee cites 2014/15
Fiscal effort index (CRA report recommended: change in ratio of own revenues to revenue expenditures)	Opaque	Annual [assumed]
Prudence index (CRA report recommended. Based on producing a county audit report, County executive score, county assembly score, county government performance score: a threshold assessment of whether processes and committees are in place. Committee recommendations may differ from CRA, correspondence unclear).		Annual [assumed]
Capitation grants		
Per learner	EMIS [assumed]	Annual [assumed]

⁶¹ Sources for Kenya: †Parliament of Kenya (2020); †World Bank (2020); †Government of Kenya, (2019).

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Pakistan ⁶²		•
Provincial share, for several sectors		
Population	Census [assumed]	Censuses conducted in 2017 and 1998.
Poverty	Household survey [assumed]	Conducted in 2019/20
Revenue collection / generation	-	-
Inverse population density	Census [assumed]	Censuses conducted in 2017 and 1998.
District share, within provinces		
Details not found. A recent Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability assessment (2017) for Balochistan Province pointed out the existence of legislation on formula-based transfers to districts, but the committee to do so was not constituted. Other provinces have provincial distribution through sector-specific grants to districts (including Punjab).	-	_
Capitation grants to schools		
Ad hoc: secondary schools and clusters of schools (Balochistan). Enrolment-based (including in Punjab) with "population density, school-going age population, poverty rates, girls' middle enrolment rate and percentage of out-of-school children" (†CPDI, 2018).	School Information System, Pakistan Social and Living Standards Measurement (PSLM) surveys, Punjab's projection of the census.	Censuses conducted in 2017 and 1998. PSLM almost annually. Government of Punjab likely to produce projections. SIS annually or more often.
Ad hoc presidential top-ups to provinces		
Ad hoc, but applies to a poorer, more rural province (Balochistan) in the latest round for one year.	-	-
Scotland ⁶³ All annually updated. Survey-based (household surveys) p data (commuters and tourists from two administrative so stated. Census data tends to be augmented with vital stat figures for some population aggregates; this may occur an Census delayed due to Covid-19 by one year in 2022. General revenue grant (education-related components o Population	urces over the last t tistics, commuter fig nually. nly for reasons of sp Census plus vital statistics plus tourism figures	hree years) unless gures and tourism
	plus commuter figures	

⁶² Sources for Pakistan: †Government of Pakistan (1973); †Government of Pakistan (2020); †World Bank (2018); †CPDI (2018); †Government of Balochistan (2021).

⁶³ Sources for Scotland: ¹Scottish Government (2021);¹Scottish Government (2022).

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Tourists	International Passenger Survey and Great Britain Tourism Survey (intra-UK and international counts, average of three pre-Covid-19 years)	Annual
Sports weighted population	Annual household survey	Annual
Net pupils	Universities (assumed)	Annual
Standardised mortality ratio	Combination of c administrative up	dates on deaths
Nursery school teaching staff		Annual
Population aged 3 and 4 years	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Pre-school education		
Population aged 3 years	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Provision for 4-year-olds [assumed enrolment based]	Early learning and childcare census	Annual
Population aged 3, 4 years	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Population aged 3, 4 years in settlements of less than 1,000 if that share is more than 15%	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Childcare strategy		
Population aged 0–14 years	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Community and residential care (normalised share of 0–15-year-olds living in one-parent family plus low-income dependents normalised share) index scaled by 0–14-year-old population		Every ten years (share of one-parent); other surveys are annual or more-than annual (employment)
Estimated Population 0–14 Living in settlements of less than 1,000	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Sure start		
Estimated population 0–3 years living in settlements of less than 1,000	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Population Aged 0–3 years		Annual
Community & Residential Care Index x Population aged 0–14	Various	Every ten years (share of one-parent); others annual
Primary School Teaching Staff		
Primary school pupils	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Pupils in small schools "enrolment less than 70 [] in settlements in Scottish Government urban /rural classifications 5 and 6"	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Secondary School Teaching Staff		
Secondary school pupils	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Island	_	Annual
Special education		
Population aged 2–19 years	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
Teachers for ethnic minorities		
Number of pupils who are from ethnic minorities	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Teacher pensions		
Straight passthrough from central government based on national pensions agency estimates	_	Annual
Education deprivation		
Primary Schools — Weighted Free Meal Registration	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Secondary Schools — Weighted Free Meal Registration	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
School clothing grant		
Children in low-income families	Annual household survey	Annual
School hostels		
Pupils in hostels	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
School security		
Number of pupils	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Number of schools	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
School meals		
Pre-school pupils	Early Learning and Childcare census collated at local authority level and submitted on Procxed, an online system to help councils with data validation.	Annual
P1–P3 primary	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
P4–P7 in low-income families	EMIS and household	Annual
P4–P7 not in low-income families	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Secondary school, free school meals taken	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Secondary school, paid for school meals taken	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Special School (P1–P3 equivalent)	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Special School and in low-income families	EMIS and household survey	Annual
Special School, other	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
School transport		1
Population aged 5–15 years	Combination of census and	Annual

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
	administrative updates on deaths and births	
Pupil Dispersion ("This is a measure of the degree to which the population of an authority is spread across its area in relation to (main) settlements. Main settlements are defined for this purpose generally as being those of 7,000 [inhabitants] or more. The dispersion indicator is then calculated as the sum of the distances for the [pupil-age population] outside those main settlements to travel to the nearest main settlement."	National EMIS collated at local authority level plus census	Annual
Residual Further Education		
Population aged 17 years and above	Combination of census and administrative updates on deaths and births	Annual
National language education		
Count of pupils taught the language [unclear]	National EMIS collated at local authority level	Annual
Adult Literacy and Numeracy		
bottom fifth Very remote, Adults qualified below National Vocational Qualification level 2, Population on less than living wage	Household surveys for some indicators, administrative data for others	Mostly annually, some dependent on household survey frequency
Teacher Remoteness & Distant Islands Allowances		
Ad hoc. Based on costs.	-	Annual
Ringfenced and formerly ringfenced grants (formerly = in 2007/08)	grants where ring	fencing abandoned
These grants are hidden for reasons of space. See sources	5.	
Capitation grants in Scotland vary at the local authorit	ty level ⁶⁴ .	
South Africa ⁶⁵		
Provincial equitable share		
<i>Note:</i> Annually calculated shares for the equitable share, in in over the three-year Medium Term Expenditure Framew large census-related adjustment, ad hoc allocations were	ork period by one-th	nird each year. For a
School going population	StatsSA, assumed annually updated due to vital statistics collection	Annual

⁶⁴ Some high-income countries, such as the Republic of Ireland, use nationally determined minimum grants.

⁶⁵ Sources for RSA: †Hall & Giese (2009); †Government of the Republic of South Africa (2020);
†Government of the Republic of South Africa (2022);
†National Treasury of the Republic of South Africa (2022).

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Public ordinary school enrolment	National EMIS	Quarterly [not clear if quarterly updates feed to the budget, assume not]
Income-based poverty	Household surveys, possibly via an adjustment mechanism	Annual
Per province amount	-	-
GDP	GDP estimates from StatsSA	Quarterly (assume annual amount used)
Population	Annually updated StatsSA estimates	Annual
Hospital outputs	DHIS (two years average pre-Covid-19)	Annual
Total Fertility Rate, Premature mortality, Sparsity, Multiple deprivation index (education, asset poverty, housing quality)	2016 Community Survey, vital statistics, StatsSA population estimates, 2018 government employees medical scheme as proxy for resource use, household survey 2019 medical insurance coverage	2022. last updated 2010.
Earmarked (conditional) grants		
Education infrastructure grant		
Ad hoc based on historical allocations	_	-
ECD conditional grant infrastructure component		
"Standard amount" for each province, based on historical levels of enrolment ([°] Covernment of the Republic of South Africa, 2022)	-	-
Ad hoc. "The number of ECD centres assessed in each province that meet the criteria for the maintenance/upgrading conditional registration package" ([†] Government of the Republic of South Africa, 2022)	-	Annual [assumed]
ECD conditional grant subsidy component		
Actual number of children targeted in two previous years.	Provincial submissions. Data used is not published for verification.	Not updated every year.

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
National school nutrition programme		
National poverty distribution table share for a historical year. Provinces (such as Western Cape) use efficiency savings to fund meals targeted at the student level by school leaders in 'richer' schools to less-well-off learners).	Based on household surveys not specified and an adjustment function to reduce shocks at the province level. These data are used to construct a National Poverty Distribution Table, which appears to be unpublished. School leaders use their own knowledge supported by proof of social safety net receipt by learner households (including in Western Cape).	The national poverty distribution table is not updated every year. The share of learners in low-quintile schools has increased.
Maths, science and technology grant		
Ad hoc based on six criteria: (1) Q1–3 schools (2) "Provinces may include schools in quintiles 4 and 5, as per provincial needs. The approval of the transferring officer (provided the average learner performance in all subjects including mathematics, science, and technology is at a level below 60 per cent at Grade 12) (3) Primary schools will be supported as feeder schools to secondary schools participating in the grant based on the provincial needs analysis in line with the outputs of the grant. (4) At least 30 learners are enrolled for each grade in mathematics and science subjects at a general education and training, and further education and training (FET) band, and 15 learners are enrolled for technology subjects in further education and training band (5) agricultural schools, technical schools including pilot schools for vocationally oriented curriculum (6) pilot schools for coding and robotics curriculum (†Government of the Republic of South Africa, 2022: p. 229).	Province- supplied listing, not published.	Annual
HIV and AIDS (life skills education) programme grant		
School-going population	StatsSA, assumed annually updated due to vital statistics collection	Annual

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Public ordinary school enrolment	National EMIS	Annual. Quarterly updates are published by DBE
Learners with profound intellectual disabilities grant		
Unclear but "Allocations consider the number of special care centres, children with severe or profound intellectual disabilities (CSPID) in special care centres, schools that have enrolled learners referred from care centres per province as well as the urban and rural nature of each province"	Administrative data, possibly national EMIS	Annual
School infrastructure backlogs grant — indirect, ad hoc		
Ad hoc sequencing		Annual
Capitation grants from provincial share		
Pupils conditional on quintile of school (based on the area in which the school is located, although the provinces have some discretion)	Based on household surveys not specified and an adjustment function to reduce shocks at the province level, used to construct a National Poverty Distribution Table. Q4–Q5 schools (in the 'richest' 40% of wards) receive no capitation grant. Provinces can elect to increase capitation support to any school and (re)order the schools by quintile.	
Sierra Leone66	quintille.	
Block education grant		
Total enrolment	EMIS	Based on how often the school census can be completed. Most recent census was 2019
Per council amount	-	
School-going age	Census (assumed)	Censuses have been infrequent due to Ebola and

⁶⁶ Sources for Sierra Leone: †Mullan & Taddese (2020); †McBurnie & Beoku-Betts (2021); †Government of Sierra Leone (2022).

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
		other national
Capitation grants, specific line in national budget		realities
estimates		
Per learner	EMIS	Most recent was 2019.
Mainland Tanzania ⁶⁷		
Funds to Local Govts including sector block, non-wage		
Ad hoc. Some attempts were made to use formulas in previous years.	-	-
Capitation grants		
Pupil count	National EMIS, the president's office	Annual
Uganda ⁶⁸		
Formula variables for education sector-specific grants		
Staff		
Ad hoc	Ministry of Public Service	Integrated Personnel and Payroll System
Non-wage grants to Local Governments		
Enrolment in public schools	Collected by Ministry of Education and Sports and Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development specifically for the budget, using the online transfer management system. One to three times annually.	
Land area	Statistical office	On boundary revisions. Usually annual.
Islands	Statistical office	On boundary revisions.
Per local government amount	Statistical office	On boundary revisions.
Number of schools	Collected by Ministry of of Education and Sports and Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development specifically for the budget, using the online transfer management system. One to three times	Annual, in-year deviations when schools added/closed

⁶⁷ Sources for Tanzania: *†Tilley et al. (2014); †Tidemand (2018); †Government of Tanzania (2020); †Dom* et al. (2021). ⁶⁸ Sources for Uganda: †Government of Uganda (2023); †Long et al. (2021); †Al-Samarrai & Lewis (2021).

		Frequency where known
Development		•
Land Area	Statistical office	On boundary revisions. Usually annual
Urban Population	Statistical office, Census projections	On boundary revisions. Usually annual
Island Dummy	Statistical office	On boundary
Fixed Allocation per local government		revisions
Inverted weighted primary exam scores (worse gets more)	Irregularly collected from the exam board	Ad hoc
Inverted weighted secondary exam scores (worse gets more)	Irregularly collected from the exam board	Ad hoc
Population of Primary and Secondary School Age (including refugees)	Statistical office and UNHCR	Annual
Population in Hard-to-Reach / Hard-to-Stay Areas (including refugees)	Statistical office and UNHCR, Hard to reach indicator is from the Ministry of Public Service	The hard-to-reach indicator is updated from time to time
Inverse Gross Enrolment (Including refugees) (lower enrolment ratio Local Governments get more)	Denominator collected by Ministry of Education and Sports and Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development specifically for the budget, numerator from statistical office, using the online transfer management system	Annual
Local government performance assessment	Assessed by the Office of the Prime Minister. Consists of over 30 weighted metrics on the conduct of the district education office.	Annual
Pensions (all sectors)		
straight passthrough from central government	LGs supply information to national government	Annual
Capitation minimums to schools (paid via local		
governments)		
Enrolment		Annual

Grant, subgrant, variable name	Source, system	Frequency where known
Per school fixed grant	Collected by Ministry of Education and Sports and	Annual, in-year deviations when schools added/closed
Special needs enrolment	Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development specifically for the budget using the online transfer management system	Annual
Ad hoc — local governments can elect to top up the capitation grants, and in richer municipalities this can occur.		-